

SDG 16 AS AN ENABLER OF THE 2030 AGENDA

Policy Paper No. 32, July 2024



SDG 16 AS AN ENABLER OF THE 2030 AGENDA

Policy Paper No. 32, July 2024

Stacey Cram



International IDEA Strömsborg SE-103 34 Stockholm SWEDEN +46 8 698 37 00 info@idea.int www.idea.int

© 2024 International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance

International IDEA publications are independent of specific national or political interests.

This Policy Paper provides a current literature review and an in-depth meta-analysis of the evidence base that underpins assertions of interlinkages between Sustainable Development Goal 16—as an enabler—and the 2030 Agenda's other Sustainable Development Goals.



With the exception of any third-party images and photos, the electronic version of this publication is available under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 4.0 (CC BY-NC-SA 4.0) licence. You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the publication as well as to remix and adapt it, provided it is only for non-commercial purposes, that you appropriately attribute the publication, and that you distribute it under an identical licence. For more information visit the Creative Commons website: http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0.

International IDEA Strömsborg SE-103 34 Stockholm SWEDEN Tel: +46 8 698 37 00 Email: info@idea.int Website: <https://www.idea.int>

Cover illustration: Generated with DALL E Design and layout: International IDEA Copyeditor: Curtis Budden

DOI: <https://doi.org/10.31752/idea.2024.47>

ISBN: 978-91-7671-782-0 (PDF)

Acknowledgements

This paper was conceptualized by Annika Silva-Leander and Amanda Sourek, and developed by Stacey Cram, who conducted the final research and writing of the content under their supervision.

A previous database research was developed by Jeffrey Fischer and Claire Lynch.

We would like to sincerely thank the peer reviewers of this Policy Paper that provided invaluable input into the analysis, including (in alphabetical order) Amanda Sourek, International IDEA; Annika Silva-Leander, International IDEA; Elena Marmo, TAP Network; Henk-Jan Brinkman, International Development Law Organization; John Romano, TAP Network; Michael Runey, International IDEA; and Peter van Sluijs, Civil Society Platform for Peacebuilding and Statebuilding.

We would also like to thank Lisa Hagman for the editorial guidance received and for all her support in designing this paper.

Contents

Acknowledgements iv
Executive summary1
Introduction2
Chapter 1 Background to the 2030 Agenda and SDG 164
Chapter 2
Methodology 6 Methodology caveats 8 Covid-19 8
Chapter 3 Overview of key findings and takeaways from interlinkages9
Chapter 4 Specific SDG linkages with select SDGs15
Chapter 5
Recommendations26Strengthen high-impact areas26Address research gaps27
Chapter 6 Conclusion
References
Annex A. Pathfinders' graphic depiction of the SDG 16+ framework
Annex B. Sources analysed for the literature review and meta-analysis37
About the author
About International IDEA51

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Policy Paper explores the interlinkages between Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 16 (Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions) and the 2030 Agenda's other Sustainable Development Goals. Despite SDG 16's crucial role in promoting democratic principles, human rights and the rule of law, it is often overlooked, and the financing needed to deliver SDG 16 is substantial, requiring sustained investment for long-term development. This paper provides a comprehensive literature review and meta-analysis of 185 articles and highlights how SDG 16 acts as an enabler for other SDGs.

Key findings indicate substantial evidence of SDG 16's interlinkages with other goals, with high-impact interlinkages existing for SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 5 (Gender Equality) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). There is also evidence demonstrating SDG 16's positive impact on SDG 2 (Zero Hunger), SDG 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action), which are also examined in this paper.

The dimensions of SDG 16 with the strongest interlinkages are ensuring participatory decision making (SDG 16.7), justice (SDG 16.3), reducing arms flows and organized crime (SDG 16.4), building transparent institutions (SDG 16.6), reducing corruption (SDG 16.5) and ensuring peace (SDG 16.1). These focus areas show significant interlinkages with several other SDGs, underscoring the crucial role of rights, participation, representation and the rule of law in achieving sustainable development and addressing various interconnected challenges.

This paper calls for increased cross-sector collaboration and offers recommendations to United Nations Member States, policymakers working across the 2030 Agenda and other stakeholders working in areas where SDG 16 has high-impact interlinkages to make targeted investments, enhance research and safeguard those working on SDG 16 in order to fully leverage its potential in achieving outcomes on the 2030 Agenda. Despite SDG 16's crucial role in promoting democratic principles, human rights and the rule of law, it is often overlooked.

INTRODUCTION

The Sustainable Development Goals are inherently interconnected, with each goal dependent on the others for its success. However, the specific ways in which these interdependencies function have not been fully articulated. SDG 16, which focuses on promoting peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, providing access to justice for all and building effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels, is increasingly recognized as pivotal in creating an environment conducive to achieving the entire 2030 Agenda. A growing body of evidence, often categorized under the SDG 16+ agenda, demonstrates that SDG 16 is vital for the achievement of all other SDGs (see Annex A. Pathfinders' graphic depiction of the SDG 16+ framework).

In recent years, democracy has been in decline, the rule of law has weakened, civic space has been shrinking, and conflict-related deaths have reached a three-decade high. SDG 16 is also vital for upholding key principles of democracy, as defined by the Global State of Democracy (GSoD) Indices, compiled by the International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (International IDEA), including rights, participation, representation and the rule of law (see Chapters 3 and 4 for a detailed breakdown). Yet, despite its critical importance, SDG 16 is often overlooked, and the financing needed to deliver SDG 16 is substantial, requiring sustained investment for long-term development (UNDP 2023; SDG 16 Hub 2019; Manuel and Manuel 2022). In recent years, democracy has been in decline,¹ the rule of law has weakened,² civic space has been shrinking,³ and conflict-related deaths have reached a three-decade high.⁴ These alarming trends underscore a lack of progress on SDG 16 and an urgency to accelerate action towards its achievement.

¹ In 2023, across every region of the world, democracy continued to contract (International IDEA 2023).

² More than 6 billion people live in countries where the rule of law weakened between 2022 and 2023. Human rights have declined in three out of four countries since a global rule-of-law recession began in 2016 (WJP 2023).

³ Civic space is becoming increasingly constrained with over 85 per cent of the world's population living in countries with serious civic space restrictions. Attacks on and persecution of human rights defenders by both state and non-state actors are on the rise (CIVICUS n.d.).

⁴ In 2023, 59 state-based conflicts were recorded in 34 countries, the highest number of conflicts registered since 1946 (Rustad 2024).

Despite the importance of SDG 16, detailed research and analysis on how it interlinks with and enables the delivery of other SDGs remain limited, with existing studies on interlinkages lacking an in-depth examination of SDG 16. This Policy Paper addresses this research gap by diving into the existing literature and offering an in-depth meta-analysis of the evidence base that underpins assertions of SDG 16's interlinkages with other SDGs. Through this analysis, the paper clarifies the SDGs and aspects of SDG 16 where the interlinkage seems to be the strongest. The main target audience is United Nations Member States and policymakers working across the 2030 Agenda to help them make an evidence-based and nuanced case for SDG 16 as an enabler of the Agenda.

The methodology used to review the 185 pieces of literature covered in this study is described in Chapter 2. The resources analysed reveal clear interlinkages between SDG 16 and all other SDGs, with the most substantial evidence existing for SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 5 (Gender Equality) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). There is also evidence for interlinkages with SDG 2 (Zero Hunger), SDG 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action). Conversely, there is less evidence for interlinkages with SDG 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy), SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure), SDG 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production), SDG 14 (Life below Water), SDG 15 (Life on Land) and SDG 17 (Partnerships).

The dimensions of SDG 16 that appear to have the strongest interlinkages are participatory decision making (SDG 16.7), justice (SDG 16.3), reducing arms flows and organized crime (SDG 16.4), transparent institutions (SDG 16.6), reducing corruption (SDG 16.5) and peace (SDG 16.1). These focus areas show significant interlinkages with several other SDGs, underscoring the crucial role of rights, participation, representation and the rule of law in achieving sustainable development and addressing various interconnected challenges.

This paper outlines how UN Member States and policymakers working across the 2030 Agenda can accelerate action on development outcomes, such as health, poverty and education, by supporting and investing in SDG 16. It provides an initial, though not exhaustive, overview of existing research on interlinkages, with positive interlinkages prioritized over negative interlinkages, and highlights questions to encourage future collaboration and research between different sectors. Addressing areas with relatively less research in future studies will be essential to strengthening the evidence base across all aspects of SDG 16 and its connections with other goals.

The Report reveals clear interlinkages between SDG 16 and all other SDGs.

The dimensions of SDG 16 that appear to have the strongest interlinkages are participatory decision making (SDG 16.7), justice (SDG 16.3), reducing arms flows and organized crime (SDG 16.4), transparent institutions (SDG 16.6), reducing corruption (SDG 16.5) and peace (SDG 16.1).

Chapter 1 BACKGROUND TO THE 2030 AGENDA AND SDG 16

The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, adopted in 2015 by 193 UN Member States, includes 17 goals focused on people, the planet, prosperity, peace and partnership. SDG 16 aims to promote peaceful and inclusive societies, provide access to justice for all and build effective, accountable institutions at all levels. Its impacts can occur throughout public and private society, in formal institutions and in de facto norms. For this reason, it is crosscutting, impacting governance, the delivery of basic services and the ability to find resolutions when rights are denied; these are foundational elements⁵ for addressing the complex interlinkages between poverty, inequality, climate change and economic instability. The concept of SDG 16+ identifies peace, justice and inclusion as the three main dimensions of SDG 16, comprising the 12 targets from SDG 16 and 24 targets from 7 other goals that directly measure an aspect of peace, justice and inclusion.

²⁰³⁰ Agenda Sustainable Development Goals and targets can be seen in Annex A.

- Table 1.1. SDG 16 targets and indicators

	Target	Official indicators
SDG 16.1	Significantly reduce all forms of violence and related death rates everywhere	 Number of victims of intentional homicide Number of conflict-related deaths Proportion of population that feel safe walking alone around the area they live
SDG 16.2	End abuse, exploitation, trafficking and all forms of violence and torture against children	 Proportion of children aged 1–17 years who experienced any physical punishment and/or psychological aggression by caregivers Number of victims of human trafficking Proportion of young women and men aged 18–29 years who experienced sexual violence by age 18
SDG 16.3	Promote the rule of law at the national and international levels and ensure equal access to justice for all	 Proportion of victims of violence who reported their victimization Unsentenced detainees as a proportion of the overall prison population Proportion of the population who have experienced a dispute and accessed a formal or informal dispute resolution mechanism
SDG 16.4	By 2030 significantly reduce illicit financial and arms flows, strengthen the recovery and return of stolen assets, and combat all forms of organized crime	 Inward and outward illicit financial flows Proportion of seized, found or surrendered arms whose illicit origin has been traced
SDG 16.5	Substantially reduce corruption and bribery in all their forms	 Proportion of persons who paid a bribe to a public official or were asked for a bribe Proportion of businesses that paid a bribe to a public official or were asked for a bribe
SDG 16.6	Develop effective, accountable and transparent institutions at all levels	 Primary government expenditures as a proportion of the approved budget, by sector Proportion of the population satisfied with their most recent experience of public services
SDG 16.7	Ensure responsive, inclusive, participatory and representative decision making at all levels	 Proportions of positions in national and local institutions compared with national distributions Proportion of the population who believe decision making is inclusive and responsive
SDG 16.8	Broaden and strengthen the participation of developing countries in the institutions of global governance	 Proportion of members and voting rights of developing countries in international organizations
SDG 16.9	By 2030 provide legal identity for all, including free birth registration	 Proportion of children under five years of age whose births have been registered
SDG 16.10	Ensure public access to information and protect fundamental freedoms in accordance with national legislation and international agreements	 Number of verified cases of killing, kidnapping, enforced disappearance, arbitrary detention and torture of journalists, media personnel, trade unionists and human rights advocates Number of countries that adopt and implement guarantees for public access to information

Source: United Nations, 'Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development', [n.d.], <<u>https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda</u>>, accessed 29 June 2024.

Chapter 2 METHODOLOGY

This study is based on a scoping review of the literature on SDG 16 and its impact on other SDGs and development outcomes, as well as on SDG interlinkages. The literature search was carried out using online search engines and databases (Google Scholar, JSTOR, etc.). The researcher began looking for causal relationships through searches such as 'How does X [SDG 16 element] impact Y [alternate SDG]?' and then searching for 'the relationship between X and Y' where there was limited causal evidence.

Academic articles were prioritized in this search to find evidence with clear methodologies and robustly quantified and qualified results. Literature published between 2016 and 2024 was prioritized, with April 2024 being the cut-off date for the sampling; 13 articles written prior to 2016 were included. The breakdown of the resources used can be seen in Figure 2.1. A wide range of studies were examined through an initial screening of titles, abstracts and keywords to narrow down the sample to the final list of 185 papers. The researcher also noted where evidence surrounding an interlinkage was sparse or non-existent in an effort to determine if any trends emerged within the evidence gaps.

After the literature search and screening, an in-depth review of the studies in the final sample was carried out. A predefined coding scheme was followed to collect and synthesize information about the scale of analysis and the research methods used, and to determine whether SDG 16 was referred to as an enabler of the 2030 Agenda or of specific goals and whether the linkage was made referencing the SDG by name or outcome as described in the 2030 Agenda (e.g. SDG 1/no poverty) or more broadly on related outcomes (e.g. increased household income), and whether links were explicit or implicit, as well as to identify key evidence from the literature. The number of articles that referenced an SDG was tracked, and for each article reviewed it was noted when an individual target was mentioned as having a positive enabling effect on a specific goal. For example, if one article referenced that 16.1 enabled SDGs 1, 2 and 3, this would be noted as three occurrences of SDG 16.1 interlinkages



Figure 2.1. Breakdown of the sources reviewed

in the literature. This accounts for why there are more occurrences in the literature than the number of articles reviewed. Negative occurrences were not tracked. High coverage for targets is greater than 201 occurrences (90th percentile); medium coverage, 179–201 occurrences (80th percentile); low coverage, 156–179 occurrences (70th percentile); and the lowest coverage, below 155 occurrences (60th percentile). The highest number of occurrences was 224 (16.7, participatory decision making), and the lowest was 154 (16.8, participation of developing countries in global governance). High coverage for SDGs is more than 133 occurrences, medium 110–132 and low coverage below 110.

For a full list of the sampled literature, see Annex B.

METHODOLOGY CAVEATS

The analysis is based on a comprehensive, albeit non-exhaustive, review of the literature, and additional sources may exist that were not included. Meta studies were prioritized to increase the number of sources reviewed. This study primarily focused on explicit and implicit interlinkages referencing the SDG by name or outcome as described in the 2030 Agenda, which may not capture the full extent of the relationships between SDG 16 and other goals. The majority of the reviewed studies were qualitative, limiting the author's ability to draw robust quantitative conclusions. Negative linkages were not explored in depth. Some studies did look at negative linkages but identified SDG 16 as having low negative interlinkages; future research should examine the negative correlations related to SDG 16. Future research should also aim to incorporate more quantitative studies to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the interlinkages. This study notes the difficulty in distinguishing between correlation and causation in the observed interlinkages. Further research is needed to explore causal relationships and validate the findings. Additional resources in different languages should also be considered for future research as this paper only addressed literature in English.

COVID-19

It is worth noting that the global pandemic may have fuelled an increased number of publications linking SDG 16 to SDG 3. Seven of the articles reviewed were written in direct response to the Covid-19 public health crisis, with others written after 2020 examining the impacts of the crisis.

Chapter 3 OVERVIEW OF KEY FINDINGS AND TAKEAWAYS FROM INTERLINKAGES

International IDEA's GSoD conceptual framework (Figure 3.1) has identified four key attributes for a healthy and functional democracy: rights, participation, representation and the rule of law. The 185 resources analysed for this study provide a strong body of evidence that each of the elements of the GSoD conceptual framework and the associated SDG 16 targets is critical for achieving sustainable development.



Figure 3.1. International IDEA's GSoD conceptual framework

Source: International IDEA, The Global State of Democracy Initiative, [n.d.], <<u>https://www.idea.int/gsod</u>>, accessed 29 June 2024.

The literature captures the negative impact of violence, corruption, injustice and insecurity on health, education, jobs, urban development and other Sustainable Development Goals. The positive effect of participatory decision making (SDG 16.7), justice (SDG 16.3), reduced arms flows and organized crime (SDG 16.4), transparent institutions (SDG 16.6) and reduced corruption (SDG 16.5) leads to gains for individuals and communities, alongside wider development gains. While fewer of the articles examined for this study look at direct interlinkages between peace (16.1) and development, the evidence that exists is robust and based on decades of historical analysis. All the areas listed above show significant interlinkages with several other SDGs, highlighting the critical role these elements play in achieving sustainable development and addressing various interconnected challenges.

The resources analysed reveal clear interlinkages between SDG 16 and all the other SDGs, with the most substantial evidence existing for interlinkages with SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 5 (Gender Equality) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). Conversely, there is less evidence for interlinkages with SDG 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy), SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure), SDG 12





(Responsible consumption and production), SDG 14 (Life below Water), SDG 15 (Life on Land) and SDG 17 (Partnerships) (Figure 3.2).

The number of articles available to analyse indicates that there is a strong research focus on this subject in academic and policy communities and the desire to substantiate claims of SDG 16 interlinking properties and its ability to enable sustainable development outcomes. Goals that have low coverage (SDGs 7, 9, 12, 14, 15 and 17) should be viewed as potential gaps in research and in the literature rather than as evidence that these goals do not enable other development outcomes. See full heatmap of sources analysed in Figure 3.3.

Most of the studies reviewed look at interlinking properties across multiple countries or regions, with only 19 articles focusing on how SDG 16 enables development in a specific country context. Moreover, 132 resources focus on how SDG 16 helps enable a specific goal, 37 studies cover multiple goals, and 16 studies focus on how SDG 16 helps deliver the entire 2030 Agenda. The evidence examined is divided into qualitative studies (117), quantitative studies (39), and studies utilizing mixed quantitative and qualitative analyses (29). The limited number of quantitative studies makes it difficult to draw conclusions on the robustness of all 185 sources' findings; only quantitative studies would allow for that. Future research should address this gap in quantitative studies which could also help interrogate whether certain interlinkages are correlations or causations, an issue not addressed in this Policy Paper.

																			_	
	16.1	11	10	17	16	15	11	10	13	9	14	11	9	11	9	9	10	185	20	I.
	16.2	11	10	16	12	11	10	9	11	8	11	9	9	10	9	9	8	163		
	16.3	19	13	19	17	16	13	11	15	11	14	12	12	16	11	11	12	222	17	:
s	16.4	14	13	20	15	14	13	12	14	12	15	12	12	13	12	12	13	216		security
target	16.5	15	11	19	15	14	12	10	15	10	18	11	11	11	10	11	12	205	-	occure
SDG 16 targets	16.6	16	13	19	14	15	13	11	13	11	13	15	12	15	11	12	12	215	14	Number of occurences
SC	16.7	16	13	19	16	15	13	12	14	12	15	14	13	16	12	12	12	224		Numb
	16.8	11	9	14	11	11	10	8	10	8	10	9	8	9	8	9	9	154	E	:
	16.9	12	10	15	12	12	10	8	11	9	12	8	9	10	8	8	9	163		
	16.10	11	10	18	13	11	10	8	11	9	11	9	9	10	9	9	9	167		
	TOTAL	136	112	176	141	134	115	99	127	99	133	110	104	121	99	102	106			
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	17			
									SDG b	y goal										

– Figure 3.3. Heatmap of sources analysed, and number of positive occurrences in the literature¹

Source: Developed by the author.

For each article reviewed, it was noted when an individual target was mentioned as enabling a specific goal.

1

- Table 3.1. Interlinkages referenced in the literature

SDG 16 target	Literature coverage ¹	Number of occurrences	Notes
SDG 16.7 (participatory decision making)	High	224	Strong research focus.
SDG 16.3 (justice)	High	222	Strong research focus.
SDG 16.4 (reducing arms flows and organized crime)	High	216	Strong research focus.
SDG 16.6 (transparent institutions)	High	215	Strong research focus.
SDG 16.5 (reducing corruption)	High	205	Strong research focus.
SDG 16.1 (peace)	Medium	185	Evidence base for conflict impacting sustainable development is robust.
SDG 16.10 (public access to information)	Low	167	
SDG 16.2 (end abuse, violence and torture against children)	Low	163	Research on child abuse and violence is sufficient but limited on trafficking and torture of children.
SDG 16.9 (legal identity for all, including birth registration)	Low	163	
SDG 16.8 (participation of developing countries in global governance)	Lowest	154	Large gap in evidence regarding the participation of developing countries in international governance.

High coverage is greater than 201 occurrences (90th percentile); medium coverage, 179–201 occurrences (80th percentile); low coverage, 156–179 occurrences (70th percentile); lowest coverage, below 155 occurrences (60th percentile).

The analysis found the following strong interlinkages (Figure 3.4):

- Between SDG 16.7 (participatory decision making) and SDG 4 (Quality Education) and SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities). Sixteen occurrences in the literature examine the positive role of inclusive decision making in achieving quality education. Fourteen occurrences in the literature focus on how participatory decision making contributes to sustainable urban development.
- Between SDG 16.3 (justice) and SDG 1 (No Poverty) and SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being). Nineteen occurrences in the literature suggest a strong connection between justice and reductions in poverty. An additional 19 occurrences in the literature discuss how justice enables health outcomes.
- Between SDG 16.4 (reducing arms flows and organized crime) and SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being). This pairing had the highest individual count, with 20 occurrences in the literature, highlighting the link between reducing violence and crime and improving health and well-being outcomes.
- Between SDG 16.6 (transparent institutions) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). This pairing had 16 occurrences in the literature, indicating a notable link between institutional transparency and reducing inequality.
- Between SDG 16.5 (reducing corruption) and SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). Nineteen occurrences in the literature suggest a strong connection between corruption and health. An additional 18 occurrences in the literature discuss how anti-corruption measures reduce inequality.
- Between SDG 16.1 (peace) and SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education) and SDG 5 (Gender Equality). Seventeen occurrences in the literature suggest a strong connection between peace and health. An additional 16 occurrences in the literature discuss how peace enables education, and 15 occurrences in the literature examine how peace facilitates gender equality.

Figure 3.4. Interlinkages by SDG 16 target



Chapter 4 SPECIFIC SDG LINKAGES WITH SELECT SDGS

The evidence base reveals clear interlinkages between SDG 16 and all other SDGs, with the most substantial evidence existing for SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 5 (Gender Equality) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). There is also evidence for interlinkages with SDG 2 (Zero Hunger), SDG 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action). Conversely, there is less evidence for interlinkages with SDG 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy), SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure), SDG 12 (Responsible Consumption and Production), SDG 14 (Life below Water), SDG 15 (Life on Land) and SDG 17 (Partnerships).

The rest of this chapter will examine the 10 SDGs that have the highest number of occurrences in the literature (indicated by the blue bars in Figure 4.1), looking at how SDG 16 enables the attainment of that specific goal. Where there is evidence for the GSoD democratic principles of rights, participation, representation and the rule of law having enabling properties, these will also be highlighted.

SDG 1 (No Poverty). In total 136 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help poverty alleviation. All SDG 16 targets have a high evidence base, with 16.3 (justice) being the most robust.

 Violence and conflict can negate progress towards the SDGs and have longlasting impacts that perpetuate poverty and hinder development efforts. These impacts include but are not limited to deaths; increased numbers of orphans, widows and disabled individuals; the destruction of infrastructure; forced displacement; the spread of disease; malnourishment; and increased unemployment. These impacts jeopardize societal cohesion and exert adverse impacts on economic progress (UNDP 2023; Mukombwe, du Toit and Hendriks 2024).



Figure 4.1. Number of occurrences in the literature for each SDG, broken down by SDG 16 target

Note: The graphs with the blue bars refer to goals with moderate to high coverage in the literature and will be examined in detail in the text; the graphs with the yellow bars refer to goals with low coverage in the literature. *Source:* Developed by the author based on Annex B.

- Poverty and corruption are interrelated: countries with lower levels of income have higher levels of bribery. Corruption, as measured through administrative bribery, remains prevalent globally, with 20 per cent of people who access a public service reporting having paid a bribe to do so (UNDP 2023). Studies indicate that effective governance reduces corruption and crime, improves levels of participation and inclusion, and increases access to information, transparency and accountability, which are positively associated with poverty reduction (Sohail and Savill 2008; Spyromitros and Panagiotidis 2022).
- Justice provision can reap social rewards and have large economic benefits. Justice-based solutions can overcome key drivers of poverty, including forced evictions and lack of land (use) rights, and enable community-led solutions (Cociña et al. 2023; Weston 2022).
- Countries with stronger institutions and less corruption tend to have better poverty reduction outcomes. Evidence shows that investments in governance can significantly mitigate poverty (Allen et al. 2023). One economic study found that for every 1 per cent increase in corruption, there is a 0.2 per cent decrease in economic growth (Spyromitros and Panagiotidis 2022). Strengthening institutions and reducing corruption ensure that economic benefits are distributed more equitably, thus supporting vulnerable populations.

SDG 2 (Zero Hunger). In total 112 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help reduce hunger. All SDG 16 targets have a high evidence base.

- Conflict and limited access to justice impact or restrict access to land, seeds, water, fair and stable markets, and agricultural work, thus hindering food security and increasing hunger (Mukombwe, du Toit and Hendriks 2024).
- Transnational organized crime can severely impact public health and food security by enabling the production and sale of unsafe food products (Caparini 2022), whereas corruption control can significantly reduce the number of undernourished people in developing countries (Dwi Nugroho et al. 2022).
- The protection and promotion of rights are critical to addressing hunger and achieving food security. Data from the International Food Policy Research Institute's Global Hunger Index illustrates that countries with stronger civil liberties, such as Ghana, have experienced significant reductions in hunger. This correlation suggests that ensuring civil liberties can create an environment conducive to better nutritional outcomes (Harris 2014).
- Increased levels of participation and inclusion are positively associated with poverty reduction (Balasubramanian et al. 2022). Participatory planning and measures that improve voice and accountability are more likely to result

in pro-poor policies, which are crucial for achieving SDG 2 (Birner 2007). Enhanced accountability facilitates better communication and cooperation among stakeholders, improving the effectiveness of initiatives aimed at reducing malnutrition (Hoffman et al. 2022).

Box 4.1. SDG 2 example

Transparency and accountability in nutrition actions are promoted through nutrition accountability frameworks (NAFs). By developing SMART (specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and time-bound) commitments, tracking progress and ensuring stakeholders meet their commitments, NAFs aim to improve food security and nutrition outcomes. This approach has led to better resource allocation, increased community participation and more effective interventions to combat malnutrition and enhance food security (Hoffman et al. 2022).

SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being). In total 176 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help achieve health and well-being. All SDG 16 targets have a moderate evidence base.

- Conflict and crime worsen public health. Health-adjusted life expectancy data shows that environments where rights are violated due to conflict see significantly worse health outcomes (lqbal 2006). Organized crime, including the illicit drug trade and human trafficking, severely undermines public health (Reynolds and McKee 2010).
- Corruption in the health sector can limit access to healthcare services, increase their cost and lead to the proliferation of substandard or counterfeit medical products (Mantegazza 2023). The World Health Organization has estimated that 1 in 10 medical products are 'substandard or falsified' in low- and middle-income countries, and this figure has been as high as 70 per cent (Caparini 2022). Corruption control measures ensure health services are more accessible and of higher quality, contributing to better health outcomes (Jenkins 2021).
- Participatory governance that engages communities in health policymaking supports health services in an effort to better meet the needs of a population and is a determinant for achieving universal health coverage (Kishore and Tripathi 2019). Democratic elections have been found to significantly reduce infant mortality rates, particularly in rural areas (Harding 2020).
- The rule of law is essential for creating a stable environment for health systems, serving as a social determinant of health and impacting disease transmission, risk of exposure to harmful products and access to safe living conditions. Strong legal frameworks are necessary to regulate these factors and protect public health (Dingake 2017). Increased access to justice ensures communities can hold parties accountable and secure the resources needed to protect their health (Gramatikov 2023; Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies 2019).

Box 4.2. SDG 3 example

In Gujarat, India, social accountability mechanisms have positive outcomes on maternal health. Local communities were trained to monitor the quality of maternal health services and collected data on healthcare facilities, service delivery and patient satisfaction. This information was presented at public hearings, where community members, health officials and service providers addressed the findings and grievances. As a result, there were tangible improvements in health services, leading to higher utilization of maternal health services, including antenatal care visits, institutional deliveries and postnatal care, ultimately reducing maternal mortality rates in the areas where these mechanisms were implemented (Hamal et al. 2018).

SDG 4 (Quality Education). In total 141 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help achieve educational outcomes. All SDG 16 targets have a strong evidence base.

- Violence and conflict lead to reductions in school attainment and longerterm human capital among those exposed to violence. Evidence from Timor Leste suggests that waves of violence in the country resulted in persistent negative effects on primary school attendance and completion; boys were also less able to benefit from post-conflict recovery as a result of household trade-offs between education and economic survival that led to the removal of boys from school (Justino, Leone and Salardi 2014).
- Crime has the effect of displacing public expenditure away from productive assets, such as education, and directing resources towards protective measures (UNDP 2023). Organized crime negatively impacts educational outcomes by distorting incentives to invest in human capital (Cavalieri, Finocchiaro Castro and Guccio 2023).
- Abuse and neglect of children are linked to poor educational outcomes and mental well-being (Romano et al. 2015; Lazenbatt 2010; Owolabi 2012). Interventions that reduce violence at home and provide children and families with timely access to justice (e.g. faster processing times for domestic violence cases, and legal assistance through divorce proceedings) can reduce children's exposure to violence (Weston 2022; UN Women et al. 2019).
- Corruption limits the development of an economic and institutional environment that enhances education expansion and the formation of highquality human capital formation. People can be incentivized to spend less time in education and to focus instead on accumulating political capital that enables them to wield bureaucratic power and to engage in rentseeking activities. Corruption also diverts public funds away from education (Dridi 2014). Addressing corruption is pivotal for improving education systems (Jenkins 2021). Regression analysis reveals a strong link between corruption and lower secondary school enrolment rates. One study found that a unit increase in corruption results in a drop in enrolment rates by nearly 10 per cent (Dridi 2014).

- Strong, inclusive institutions are essential for fostering education. Democratic elections were found to increase access to primary education in rural areas of sub-Saharan Africa (Harding 2020). Increased civil liberties significantly impact the quality of education within Asian countries (Saengchai, Maneerat and Pissanu 2020).
- Legal identity, including birth registration, is crucial for accessing education. In Tanzania possessing a birth certificate is a strong predictor of educational access (Mbise 2020).

Box 4.3. SDG 4 example

A study from different Italian regions found that the rule of law in a student's regional environment influences their educational decisions. Students in environments with stronger rule of law are more likely to pursue careers that contribute to societal well-being than students raised in environments with weaker rule of law. Effective rule of law decreases resources that rent seekers may expropriate, thus reducing incentives to choose careers devoted to protecting producers from rent seeking (Nifo, Scalera and Vecchione 2017).

SDG 5 (Gender Equality). In total 134 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help achieve gender equality. All SDG 16 targets have a strong evidence base.

Meaningful participation of women in decisionmaking and peace processes is associated with less violence, longerlasting peace and fewer relapses into violence.

- Meaningful participation of women in decision-making and peace processes is associated with less violence, longer-lasting peace and fewer relapses into violence (Endeley and Molua 2024). Democracies that ensure women's representation in political processes tend to perform better in various dimensions of gender equality; this is especially true when institutions such as gender quotas and proportional electoral systems are utilized. Democracies generally deliver better outcomes for citizens, including women, due to accountability mechanisms that foster gendersensitive policies (V-Dem Institute 2023; TAP Network 2019). Countries with higher levels of democracy and transparent institutions have higher rates of female labour force participation, thus contributing to gender equality (Beer 2009).
- Stronger legal frameworks correlate with reduced gender disparities (Barajas-Sandoval et al. 2023). Effective legal institutions are crucial for protecting women's rights, ensuring their access to justice and safeguarding them against violence and discrimination. Investing in justice for women—and especially eliminating legal barriers and reducing gender-based violence and child marriage—produces high returns in human development, national income, economic growth and the fulfilment of SDG 5 (UN Women et al. 2019; Moy, Cram and Maru 2019).

- Protecting fundamental rights, such as freedom of assembly, access to information and free media, is crucial for gender equality. In Kenya increased access to information was found to improve gender equality by providing women with greater access to education, family planning and economic opportunities (Wagacha 2007).
- Ensuring that women have legal identity documents can significantly improve their ability to participate in economic, social and political life, thereby advancing gender equality (Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies 2019; UN Women et al. 2019).

Box 4.4. SDG 5 example

In Mozambique a study found that effective access to justice could support women facing intense gender discrimination. In land-claim cases, every dispossessed widow or divorced woman with access to a community paralegal was able to successfully assert her claim. Where cases stalled at the community level, paralegals were able to bring them to court, where decisions are more often in a woman's favour (Moy, Cram and Maru 2019).

SDG 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation). In total 115 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help enable access to clean water. All SDG 16 targets have a moderate evidence base.

- Organized crime in the water sector can significantly impair access to clean water and impede progress on SDG 6 (Segato et al. 2018). Effective legal frameworks are essential for tackling such activities and wider environmental crimes that impact water resources.
- Community-focused, participatory engagement strategies help improve development and monitoring measures in water infrastructure projects (Hove et al. 2019). In Argentina, when community lawyers worked alongside shantytown residents through legal and administrative actions, communities secured access to potable water and sanitation services (Moy, Cram and Maru 2019).
- Enhanced voice and accountability can support poor communities in their efforts to access clean water. One study found that a one-level increase in civil liberties⁶ leads to a 2.5 per cent increase in access to clean water for rural populations (Biser and Edwards 2012). Democracies with high accountability mechanisms provide 23 per cent more safe water access than autocracies (V-Dem Institute 2023).

⁶ The authors developed a civil liberties variable scale using the civil liberties subset of the Freedom in the World Index by Freedom House and the World Bank's World Development Indicators database. The full methodology can be seen in their paper.

Box 4.5. SDG 6 example

A comparison between Mauritius and the Democratic Republic of the Congo found that improvements in institutional quality, such as voice and accountability, regulatory quality and corruption control, can significantly increase access to sanitation in countries with low levels of institutional quality, like the Democratic Republic of the Congo, when compared with countries with higher levels of institutional quality, like Mauritius (Francois, Kakeu and Kouame 2021).

SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth). In total 127 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help economic growth. All SDG 16 targets have a high evidence base, with 16.3 (justice) and 16.5 (reducing corruption) being the most robust.

- Political instability, violence and conflict disrupt economic activities, destroy infrastructure and deter investment. High-intensity inter-state conflict reduces annual growth by 0.18–2.77 per cent, and civil war reduces annual growth by 0.01–0.13 per cent (Polachek and Sevastianova 2012). The global economic impact of violence was USD 17.5 trillion in 2022, the equivalent of 12.9 per cent of global gross domestic product (GDP), or USD 2,200 per person. Homicide was the fourth-largest component in terms of total costs, accounting for 6.6 per cent of the global economic impact of violence (UNDP 2023). Adults who experienced abuse as children have decreased educational levels, earnings and employment (Currie and Spatz Widom 2010).
- Criminal activity negatively affects a country's capacity to attract skilled workers and both domestic and foreign investments. It also leads to a reduction in competitiveness between companies and an increase in uncertainty among businesses, which make conducting economic activities in high-crime areas a challenge (UNDP 2023).
- The role of corruption in hindering economic growth is well documented. Studies show that a 1 per cent increase in corruption is correlated with a 0.72 per cent decrease in the growth rate (Hung Mo 2001). By reducing corruption, SDG 16 fosters a trustworthy business environment, thus encouraging investment and economic activity. Quality data and transparent release of information associated with economic policy benefits the public and increases inclusiveness. Effective governance ensures that economic policies are implemented well, thus promoting sustainable economic growth (Nilsson et al. 2018; San Chia et al. 2022).
- Effective and inclusive parliaments ensure that all societal groups are represented in the legislative process, which leads to the creation of laws and policies that are conducive to economic development (TAP Network 2019). Political stability, fostered by inclusive representation and effective governance, is a key driver of economic growth (Polachek and Sevastianova 2012; Anwar and Cooray 2012).

22

- Democratization leads to economic growth—on average 20 per cent higher GDP per capita after 25 years. Democracies also avoid the more catastrophic economic outcomes that characterize many autocracies (V-Dem Institute 2023).
- Access to legal identification is vital for securing employment and job opportunities. Birth certificates and identification documents are linked to employment in the formal sector, which grants workers greater benefits and job security. Restrictions on refugees' access to authorized work push them into informal, unregulated employment with greater labour infractions (Weston 2022; Hunter 2018; Arnold-Fernández 2024).

SDG 10 (Reduce Inequalities). In total 176 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets reduce inequalities. All SDG 16 targets have a strong evidence base, with target 16.5 (reducing corruption) being the most robust. SDG 10.2 and 16.7 are similar targets.

- Violent conflict has a strong negative influence on inequality. Following the end of a conflict, it can take up to four decades to return to pre-war levels of equality (Bircan, Brück and Vothknecht 2017).
- Corruption is a significant factor enabling inequality, as some entities gain more from the system than others through bribes (Rabnawaz 2015). Corruption control can significantly reduce inequalities (Dwi Nugroho et al. 2022).
- Transitioning to democracy leads, on average, to a more than 100 per cent increase in social protection spending (V-Dem Institute 2023). Improved access to information, transparency and accountability help to improve access to basic services, and the targeting of social protection policies and investments in this space can help reduce inequalities (Balasubramanian et al. 2022).
- Effective, accountable and transparent institutions foster inclusive decisionmaking processes, which are vital for reducing inequalities (Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies 2019). One study on the interlinkages between SDGs found that inclusive governance enables marginalized groups to have a voice in policymaking, which is crucial for achieving SDG 10 (Bennich et al. 2023).

Box 4.6. SDG 10 example

Mexico's official multidimensional poverty measure links human and social rights with economic well-being in a coherent framework. The social protection systems and direct cash transfer contributions introduced have proven to be the most effective policy instruments to simultaneously reduce inequality and poverty, while promoting inclusive growth that reaches a broader base of the population (Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies 2021). Corruption is a significant factor enabling inequality, as some entities gain more from the system than others through bribes. **SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities).** In total 110 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help achieve sustainable cities. All SDG 16 targets have a moderate evidence base.

- Organized crime and violence negate efforts to develop sustainable cities. 'Captured municipalities' have been found to divert resources which then benefit crime groups and undermine efforts to make cities inclusive (Di Cataldo and Mastrorocco 2022). Reducing urban violence has a direct positive impact on living conditions in urban slums and informal settlements (Locke 2021).
- Corruption undermines public trust and diverts resources away from essential urban development projects. In urban settings, reducing corruption can ensure that resources are effectively utilized for sustainable infrastructure and public services, thus fostering inclusive and resilient cities.

Improvements in legal frameworks, the rule of law and governance are critical for reducing violence and ensuring access to justice, which are essential for urban development and inclusive cities.

- Improvements in legal frameworks, the rule of law and governance are critical for reducing violence and ensuring access to justice, which are essential for urban development and inclusive cities. The strength of the rule of law has been found to predict a government's ability to provide a liveable urban environment, thus emphasizing the importance of legal frameworks (White, Sepe and Masconale 2014).
- Civil society engagement, voter turnout and other forms of public participation are critical for ensuring equitable urban development. Engaging communities in governance and utilizing citizen solutions can enable municipalities to meet the needs of all community members and to achieve more sustainable cities (Kallergis 2022; Gollagher and Hartz-Karp 2013). One study found that only a multi-stakeholder urban design process will produce truly inclusive urban spaces that fulfil the right to the city (Kempin Reuter 2019).

Box 4.7. SDG 11 example

Amending local laws governing the use of alcohol and firearms is a proven means of preventing violence in urban areas. South Africa banned the sale of alcohol during its Covid-19 lockdown, and rates of violent crime plummeted. In the informal settlement of Diadema in São Paolo, Brazil, the prohibition of alcohol sales after 23:00 and the monitoring of alcohol vendors were combined with infrastructure improvements such as street lighting and security cameras, the establishment of mediation centres for peaceful resolution of conflicts, and drug prevention education and apprenticeship schemes for youth. The city's homicide rate halved in two years (Locke 2021).

24

SDG 13 (Climate Action). In total 121 occurrences in the literature highlight how SDG 16 targets help achieve positive climate outcomes. All SDG 16 targets have a strong evidence base, with 16.3 (justice) and 16.7 (transparent institutions) being the most robust.

- Strong institutions and the protection of human rights are fundamental for addressing climate change, with democracies performing better than autocracies on climate change mitigation, producing more ambitious climate policies and delivering on them. In the nationally determined contributions under the Paris Agreement, fully democratic countries set, on average, targets of 1.6 degrees Celsius lower than full autocracies. Each new climate policy of this kind reduces CO₂ emissions by 1.79 per cent within three years (V-Dem Institute 2023).
- Transparent and accountable institutions allow for more effective environmental oversight. When participatory environmental governance is utilized, the result is higher environmental outputs, which are essential for effective climate action (Newig and Fritsch 2009).
- When communities are supported in their efforts to participate in governance and to co-generate data on climate alongside the scientific community, they can support better climate governance and reduce climate displacement and vulnerabilities (Kallergis 2022). Evidence shows that when local communities approach government and administrative institutions, invoke law with specificity and provide simple, communitygenerated evidence of violations, they can secure enforcement of environmental regulations (Maru 2023).
- Limited access to justice exacerbates the impacts of climate change on vulnerable communities, while increased access can mitigate these effects (Gramatikov 2023). As climate litigation increases in frequency and volume, the body of legal precedent grows, forming an increasingly well-defined field of law. Globally, 55 per cent of cases have had a climate-positive ruling, and some favourable outcomes have led directly to new climate policies and action. Even unsuccessful litigation can shape narratives around climate action, encouraging decision makers to change their approach (Setzer and Higham 2023).

Box 4.8. SDG 13 example

Sierra Leone's laws on customary land rights and on the National Land Commission grant communities the right to free prior informed consent over industrial projects and establish landuse committees to secure effective land administration. Granting local communities these rights and slowing disruptive development in ecologically sensitive areas are expected to reduce displacement. The inclusion of women in decision-making processes through local land-use committees is expected to increase gender equity (Maru 2023). Strong institutions and the protection of human rights are fundamental for addressing climate change, with democracies performing better than autocracies on climate change mitigation.

Chapter 5 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

The world is currently on track to achieve only 17 per cent of the SDG targets. The world is currently on track to achieve only 17 per cent of the SDG targets (UN DESA 2024). This paper has demonstrated that recalibrating and investing in efforts to achieve more peaceful, just and inclusive societies can support the advancement of other critical elements of the 2030 Agenda. UN Member States and policymakers have a limited window to accelerate action on sustainable development. The recommendations that follow can support progress to that end.

STRENGTHEN HIGH-IMPACT AREAS

Increase collaboration across sectors. Forge new partnerships and test joint programming between stakeholders working on SDG 16 and stakeholders in other sectors, especially SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 5 (Gender Equality) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). For example, the integration of health initiatives into governance reforms aims to amplify impacts on both SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being) and SDG 16. A pilot programme involving both public health departments and legal aid organizations to address health issues exacerbated by legal injustices could be rolled out as a trial.

Increase investment for SDG 16. The financing needed to deliver SDG 16 is substantial, requiring sustained investment for long-term development and resilient societies (UNDP 2023). Elements of SDG 16 are being neglected, with vast budgets allocated for military and security sectors and humanitarian relief (Möller-Loswick 2017), and far less for people-centred, community-led initiatives and preventative interventions that support democratic principles (UNDP 2023; Weston 2022; Moy, Cram and Maru 2019; TAP Network 2019). As we approach the 2030 deadline, targeted funding in high-impact areas where SDG 16 can drive progress on other goals should be prioritized. Funders should explore mechanisms to encourage collaborative projects between SDG 16 and other sectors (e.g. multisectoral partnership grants or co-financing arrangements).

Establish mechanisms for information sharing. Establish platforms for sharing data and best practices among actors working on different SDGs. For example, an online repository of case studies and research findings on SDG 16 interlinkages that is accessible to policymakers, researchers and practitioners would help in identifying synergies and enable smarter collaboration and investment. Building such a platform would require investment and technical expertise, and if such a platform were to be created, the parties involved should explore how advances in artificial intelligence could support such a process.

Safeguard those working on SDG 16. Future partnerships must look to safeguard stakeholders working on SDG 16. By increasing transparency, access to information and access to justice, these actors are advancing SDG 16's aims and other areas of sustainable development. However, it is becoming more dangerous and deadly for human rights defenders and journalists, with a 40 per cent increase in killings and a nearly 300 per cent increase in enforced disappearances from 2021 to 2022 (UNDP 2023).

The following questions should be addressed:

- What mechanisms can be implemented to facilitate information sharing and coordination between different actors working on high-impact areas?
- How can funding mechanisms be structured to incentivize collaboration between actors across sectors, encouraging joint projects and initiatives?
- How can the clustering of interlinkages be better explored? How might simultaneous investments in high-impact areas also link with advancement in other goals: for example, collaboration on participatory decision making (16.7) and SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) may lead to advancements in SDG 4 (Quality Education) or SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities).

ADDRESS RESEARCH GAPS

Strengthen the evidence base. All SDG 16 targets and goals and their interconnections with other goals should be further researched. This is especially true for topics with relatively little research and gaps—for example, on pathways and transmission mechanisms. Expanding quantitative research would be especially useful to validate the findings and establish causality. Future studies should employ robust statistical methods to explore interlinkages. Future partnerships must look to safeguard stakeholders working on SDG 16. *Negative interlinkages.* This study has not examined the potential negative impacts that SDG 16 may have on achieving other goals or the trade-offs that may need to be made in efforts to achieve SDG 16 targets—for example, analysing how participatory decision making in renewable energy projects might slow down the transition to green energy, and finding ways to balance these interests. These negative interlinkages should be further researched to develop a holistic understanding of SDG 16's role. This kind of research would help to design interventions that maximize positive outcomes while mitigating adverse effects. The articles reviewed for this study that examined negative impacts found that SDG 16 had few negative interlinkages.

Chapter 6 CONCLUSION

The analysis presented in this paper underscores the pivotal role of SDG 16 in enabling the achievement of the broader 2030 Agenda. Through an in-depth review of the literature, the evidence reveals that peace, justice and strong institutions are not merely complementary but foundational to sustainable development. Key principles of democracy such as rights, participation, representation and the rule of law are critical enablers across various SDGs, demonstrating robust interlinkages, particularly with SDG 1 (No Poverty), SDG 3 (Good Health and Well-being), SDG 4 (Quality Education), SDG 5 (Gender Equality) and SDG 10 (Reduced Inequalities). There is also evidence for interlinkages with SDG 2 (Zero Hunger), SDG 6 (Clean Water and Sanitation), SDG 8 (Decent Work and Economic Growth), SDG 11 (Sustainable Cities and Communities) and SDG 13 (Climate Action). Without concerted efforts to reverse declines in democracy and the rule of law and reduce the number of conflict-related deaths, attempts to achieve other SDGs will suffer.

However, the current evidence base is heavily skewed towards qualitative research, highlighting the need for more quantitative studies to validate and expand upon these findings. Furthermore, certain areas, such as the interlinkages with SDG 7 (Affordable and Clean Energy) and SDG 9 (Industry, Innovation and Infrastructure), remain under-researched, presenting significant opportunities for future inquiry.

The paper emphasizes the necessity of addressing existing gaps and fostering stronger collaborations across sectors to leverage SDG 16's full potential. Such an integrated approach is crucial for addressing immediate developmental challenges and building resilient systems capable of withstanding future shocks. By enhancing cross-sector collaboration, increasing targeted investments and expanding the research base, policymakers—united in their vision of a more just and peaceful world—can significantly accelerate progress towards achieving the 2030 Agenda.

Key principles of democracy such as rights, participation, representation and the rule of law are critical enablers across various SDGs, demonstrating robust interlinkages.

References

- Allen, C., Breuer, A., Kercher, J., Balasubramanian, P., Leininger, J. and Gadgil, A., 'The role of good governance in reducing poverty and inequality: Evidence from a scoping review of interlinkages between SDGs 16, 10, and 1', in A. Breuer, D. Malerba, S. Srigiri and P. Balasubramanian (eds), *Governing the Interlinkages between the SDGs: Approaches, Opportunities and Challenges* (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2023), <<u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003254683</u>>
- Anwar, S. and Cooray, A., 'Financial development, political rights, civil liberties and economic growth: Evidence from South Asia', *Economic Modelling*, 29/3 (2012), pp. 974–81, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2012.02.009</u>>
- Arnold-Fernández, E. E., 'Beyond Access: Refugees' Rights and Justice at Work', New York University Center on International Cooperation, April 2024, <<u>https://cic.nyu</u>.edu/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Refugees-Rights-and-Justice-at-Work-2024 .pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Balasubramanian, P., Breuer, A., Leininger, J., Cameron, A. and Kercher, J., 'Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) 16: A Governance Compass towards Just Transition?', German Institute of Development and Sustainability, IDOS Policy Brief No. 4/2022, https://doi.org/10.23661/ipb4.2022>
- Barajas-Sandoval, E., Botero-Pinzón, H., Botero, J. C., Pinzón-Rondón, A. M. and Ruiz-Sternberg, A. M., 'Gender inequality and the rule of law', Hague Journal on the Rule of Law, 15 (2023), pp. 95–107, https://doi.org/10.1007/s40803-022-00175-9>
- Beer, C., 'Democracy and gender equality', Studies in Comparative International Development, 44 (2009), pp. 212–27, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12116-009-9043-2>
- Bennich, T., Persson, Å., Beaussart, R., Allen, C. and Malekpour, S., 'Recurring patterns of SDG interlinkages and how they can advance the 2030 Agenda', *One Earth*, 6/11 (2023), pp. 1465–76, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2023.10.008
- Bircan, C., Brück, T. and Vothknecht, M., 'Violent conflict and inequality', Oxford Development Studies, 45/2 (2017), pp. 125–44, https://doi.org/10.1080/13600818 .2016.1213227>
- Birner, R., 'Improving Governance to Eradicate Hunger and Poverty', International Food Policy Research Institute, 2020 Focus Brief on the World's Poor and Hungry People, December 2007, https://idl-bnc-idrc.dspacedirect.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/ 70d3f7a6-b042-4d29-b5af-df7ade6700c7/content>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Biser, J. J. and Edwards, J. A., 'Civil liberties and access to water: Analysis of 193 countries', Applied Econometrics and International Development, 12/1 (2012), https://www.usc.gal/economet/reviews/aeid1212.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Caparini, M., 'Transnational organized crime: A threat to global public goods', Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, 2 September 2022, <<u>https://www.sipri.org/</u> commentary/topical-backgrounder/2022/transnational-organized-crime-threat -global-public-goods>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Cavalieri, M., Finocchiaro Castro, M. and Guccio, C., 'Organised crime and educational outcomes in Southern Italy: An empirical investigation', Socio-Economic Planning Sciences, 89 (2023), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seps.2023.101705>
```
CIVICUS, CIVICUS Monitor, [n.d.], <https://monitor.civicus.org/globalfindings_2023>,
accessed 29 June 2024
```

- Cociña, C., Apsan Frediani, A., Macarthy, J. and Sevilla Núñez, P., 'Housing Policy Options to Tackle Urban Inequalities', Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies and International Institute for Environment and Development, Policy Brief Series, July 2023, <<u>https://s42831.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Housing</u> -Policy-Options-to-Tackle-Urban-Inequalities-2023.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Currie, J. and Spatz Widom, C., 'Long-term consequences of child abuse and neglect on adult economic well-being', *Child Maltreatment*, 15/2 (2010), <<u>https://doi.org/10</u> .1177/1077559509355316>
- Di Cataldo, M. and Mastrorocco, N., 'Organized crime, captured politicians, and the allocation of public resources', *The Journal of Law, Economics, & Organization,* 38/3 (2022), pp. 774–839, https://doi.org/10.1093/jleo/ewab015>
- Dingake, O. B. K., 'The rule of law as a social determinant of health', *Health and Human Rights*, 19/2 (2017), pp. 295–98, <<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/</u> PMC5739377>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Dridi, M., 'Corruption and education: Empirical evidence', International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues, 4/3 (2014), pp. 476–93, <<u>https://dergipark.org.tr/</u> en/download/article-file/362879>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Dwi Nugroho, A., Cubillos Tovar, J. P., Bopushev, S. T., Bozsik, N., Fehér, I. and Lakner, Z., 'Effects of corruption control on the number of undernourished people in developing countries', *Foods*, 11/7 (2022), <<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> foods11070924>
- Endeley, A. N. and Molua, E. L., 'Gender and conflict in Africa: Beyond stereotypes to analytical reflections', in S. O. Ehiane, L. S. Shulika and C. H. Vhumbunu (eds), *Engagement of Africa in Conflict Dynamics and Peace Architectures* (Singapore: Palgrave Macmillan, 2024), https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99-8235-6_15>
- Francois, J. N., Kakeu, J. and Kouame, C., 'Do better institutions broaden access to sanitation in sub-Sahara Africa?', *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 39/2 (2021), pp. 435–52, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/coep.12512</u>>
- Gollagher, M. and Hartz-Karp, J., 'The role of deliberative collaborative governance in achieving sustainable cities', *Sustainability*, 5/6 (2013), pp. 2343–66, <<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su5062343</u>>
- Gramatikov, M., 'Climate Change & Access to Justice', Hague Institute for Innovation of Law, Policy Brief, 2023, <https://dashboard.hiil.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/ 08/HiiL-Policy-Brief-2023-01_Climate-Change-and-Access-to-Justice_final-1.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Hamal, M., de Cock Buning, T., De Brouwere, V., Bardají, A. and Dieleman, M., 'How does social accountability contribute to better maternal health outcomes? A qualitative study on perceived changes with government and civil society actors in Gujarat, India', *BMC Health Services Research*, 18 (2018), <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913 -018-3453-7>
- Harding, R., 'Who is democracy good for? Elections, rural bias, and health and education outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa', *The Journal of Politics*, 82/1 (2020), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1086/705745</u>>

- Harris, K., 'Bread and freedom: Linking democracy and food security in sub-Saharan Africa', *African Studies Quarterly*, 15/1 (2014), pp. 13–35, <<u>https://asq.africa.ufl</u> .edu/harris_december14>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Hoffman, D., Zanello, G., Mozaffarian, D. and Micha, R., 'Enhancing nutrition action through accountability and transparency', *UN-Nutrition Journal*, 1 (2022), pp. 90–93, https://doi.org/10.4060/cc2805en
- Hove, J., D'Ambruoso, L., Mabetha, D., van der Merwe, M., Byass, P., Kahn, K., Khosa, S., Witter, S. and Twine, R., "Water is life": Developing community participation for clean water in rural South Africa', *BMJ Global Health*, 4/3 (2019), <<u>https://doi.org/10</u> .1136/bmjgh-2018-001377>
- Hung Mo, P., 'Corruption and economic growth', *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 29/1 (2001), pp. 66–79, https://doi.org/10.1006/jcec.2000.1703
- Hunter, W., 'Identity documents, welfare enhancement, and group empowerment in the Global South', *The Journal of Development Studies*, 55/3 (2018), pp. 366–83, https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2018.1451637
- International IDEA, *The Global State of Democracy 2023: The New Checks and Balances* (Stockholm: International IDEA, 2023), <<u>https://doi.org/10.31752/idea.2023.78</u>>
- Iqbal, Z., 'Health and human security: The public health impact of violent conflict', International Studies Quarterly, 50/3 (2006), pp. 631–49, https://doi.org/10.1111/j .1468-2478.2006.00417.x>
- Jenkins, M., 'Tracking corruption across the Sustainable Development Goals', Transparency International [blog], 25 March 2021, <<u>https://www.transparency.org/en/blog/tracking-corruption-across-the-sustainable-development-goals</u>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Justino, P., Leone, M. and Salardi, P., 'Short- and long-term impact of violence on education: The case of Timor Leste', *The World Bank Economic Review*, 28/2 (2014), pp. 320–53, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/lht007</u>>
- Kallergis, A., 'At Risk: Environmental Mobility in African Coastal Cities', Robert Bosch Stiftung, August 2022, <https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/ publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_Environmental%20Mobility%20in %20African%20Coastal%20Cities_0.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Kempin Reuter, T., 'Human rights and the city: Including marginalized communities in urban development and smart cities', *Journal of Human Rights*, 18/4 (2019), pp. 382–402, https://doi.org/10.1080/14754835.2019.1629887>
- Kishore, J. and Tripathi, N., 'Role of community participation in achieving universal health coverage', *International Journal of Preventive, Curative & Community Medicine*, 5/2 (2019), <https://medical.advancedresearchpublications.com/index .php/Preventive-Curative-CommunityMed/article/view/95>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Lazenbatt, A., 'The Impact of Abuse and Neglect on the Health and Mental Health of Children', NSPCC, Research Briefing, February 2010, <<u>https://www.choiceforum.org/docs/impactabuse.pdf</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Locke, R., 'Peace in Our Cities in a Time of Pandemic', UK AID, March 2021, <<u>https://</u>catcher.sandiego.edu/items/usd/Peace%20in%20Our%20Cities%20in%20a%20 Time%20of%20Pandemic%204.29.21.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024

- Mantegazza, L., 'Sustainable Development Goals and One Health: SDG 16', UF/IFAS One Health [University of Florida blog], 9 March 2023, <<u>https://blogs.ifas.ufl.edu/onehealth/2023/03/09/sustainable-development-goals-and-one-health-sdg-16/></u>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Manuel, C. and Manuel, M., 'Justice Aid Update and Lessons from Latest Evaluations of Donor Programming', ODI, Policy Brief, June 2022, <<u>https://odi.org/en/publications/justice-aid-update-and-lessons-from-latest-evaluations-of-donor-programming/></u>, accessed 29 June 2024
- Maru, V., 'A pathway to climate and environmental justice', *American Journal of Law and Equality*, 3 (2023), pp. 103–49, https://doi.org/10.1162/ajle_a_00060
- Mbise, A. T., 'Birth certificates, birth registration and the denial of human rights: Evidence from Tanzania National Panel Data 2010/11', *The International Journal* of Children's Rights, 28/2 (2020), pp. 243–57, https://doi.org/10.1163/15718182 -02802002>
- Möller-Loswick, A., 'Is UN Goal 16 on peace being misused to justify securitization?', IPI Global Observatory, 11 October 2017, <<u>https://theglobalobservatory.org/2017/10/</u> is-un-goal-16-on-peace-being-misused-to-justify-securitization/>, accessed 30 June 2024
- Moy, A., Cram, S. and Maru, V., 'The Case to Fund and Protect Grassroots Justice Defenders', Justice for All, Policy Brief, January 2019, https://grassrootsjustice-For-All_Policy-Brief_MedRes_5.31.2019.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Mukombwe, J. S., du Toit, A. and Hendriks, S. L., 'Sustainable Development Goal 16: Peace, justice and strong institutions', in S. L. Hendriks and S. C. Babu (eds), Handbook on Public Policy and Food Security (Elgaronline, 2024), https://doi.org/10.4337/9781839105449.00041>
- Newig, J. and Fritsch, O., 'Environmental governance: Participatory, multi-level—and effective?', *Environmental Policy and Governance*, 19/3 (2009), pp. 197–214, https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.509>
- Nifo, A., Scalera D. and Vecchione, G., 'The rule of law and educational choices: Evidence from Italian regions', *Regional Studies*, 51/7 (2017), pp. 1048–62, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2016.1262945</u>>
- Nilsson, M., Chisholm, E., Griggs, D., Howden-Chapman, P., McCollum, D., Messerli, P., Neumann, B., Stevance, A.-S., Visbeck, M. and Stafford-Smith, M., 'Mapping interactions between the Sustainable Development Goals: Lessons learned and ways forward', *Sustainability Science*, 13 (2018), pp. 1489–503, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0604-z
- Owolabi, E. F., 'Child abuse and sustainable development in Nigeria', *African Journal of Social Sciences*, 2/2 (2012), pp. 108–19, <<u>https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document</u> ?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=7f416fac519f5410269b1db005cee5c211c0dd98>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, *The Roadmap for Peaceful, Just* and Inclusive Societies: A Call to Action to Change Our World (New York: Center on International Cooperation, 2019), <https://www.sdg16.plus/resources/the-roadmap -for-peaceful-just-and-inclusive-societies>, accessed 28 June 2024
- -, From Rhetoric to Action: Delivering Equality & Inclusion (New York: Center on International Cooperation, 2021), <<u>https://www.sdg16.plus/resources/delivering</u> -equality-and-inclusion>, accessed 28 June 2024

- Polachek, S. W. and Sevastianova, D., 'Does conflict disrupt growth? Evidence of the relationship between political instability and national economic performance', *The Journal of International Trade & Economic Development*, 21/3 (2012), pp. 361–88, https://doi.org/10.1080/09638191003749783
- Rabnawaz, A., 'Corruption, inequality and economic growth', *Developing Country Studies*, 5/15 (2015), <<u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=2796339</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Reynolds, L. and McKee, M., 'Organised crime and the efforts to combat it: A concern for public health', *Globalization and Health*, 6 (2010), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744</u> -8603-6-21>
- Romano, E., Babchishin, L., Marquis, R. and Fréchette, S., 'Childhood maltreatment and educational outcomes', *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 16/4 (2015), pp. 418–37, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014537908></u>
- Rustad, S. A., *Conflict Trends: A Global Overview, 1946–2023* (Oslo: Peace Research Institute Oslo, 2024), <<u>https://www.prio.org/publications/14006</u>>, accessed 29 June 2024
- Saengchai, S., Maneerat, M. and Pissanu, H., 'Judging quality of education from social paradigm in Asia: Effect of civil liberties, regulatory quality and voice and accountability', *Journal of Security & Sustainability Issues*, 9/J (2020), https://openurl.ebsco.com/EPDB%3Agcd%3A9%3A22173561/detailv2?bquery=IS%202029 -7017%20AND%20VI%209%20AND%20IP%20J%20AND%20DT%202020&page=1>, accessed 28 June 2024
- San Chia, P., Hook Law, S., Trinugroho, I., Wiwoho, J., Maya Damayanti, S. and Sergi, B. S., 'Dynamic linkages among transparency, income inequality and economic growth in developing countries: Evidence from panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model', Research in International Business and Finance, 60 (2022), <https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ribaf.2021.101599>
- SDG 16 Hub, 'Joint statement by a group of member states in support of SDG16+', 30 July 2019, <https://www.sdg16hub.org/topic/hlpf-joint-statement-group-member -states-support-sdg16-statement>, accessed 29 June 2024
- Segato, L., Mattioli, W., Capello, N. and Migliorini, M., 'Environmental crimes in the water sector', Water Utility Journal, 20 (2018), pp. 13–27, https://www.ewra.net/wuj/pdf/ WUJ_2018_20_02.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Setzer, J. and Higham, C., 'Global Trends in Climate Change Litigation: 2023 Snapshot', Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment and Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy, London School of Economics and Political Science, June 2023, <<u>https://www.lse.ac.uk/granthaminstitute/wp</u>content/uploads/2023/06/Global_trends_in_climate_change_litigation_2023 _snapshot.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Sohail, M. and Savill, S., 'Water for the poor: Corruption in water supply and sanitation', in D. Zinnbauer and R. Dobson (eds), *Global Corruption Report 2008: Corruption in the Water Sector* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press and Transparency International, 2008), <<u>https://www.wasser-in-buergerhand.de/untersuchungen/</u> <u>Transpar_Int_2008_3_Water_and_sanitation.pdf</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Spyromitros, E. and Panagiotidis, M., 'The impact of corruption on economic growth in developing countries and a comparative analysis of corruption measurement indicators', *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 10/1 (2022), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> 23322039.2022.2129368>

- TAP Network, 'Amplified Commitments and Partnerships for Accelerated Action: Rome Civil Society Declaration on SDG16+', May 2019, <<u>https://www.idlo.int/system/files/</u> event-documents/Rome%20Civil%20Society%20Declaration%20on%20SDG16%2B %20-%20FINAL.PDF>, accessed 28 June 2024
- UN Women, International Development Law Organization, World Bank and Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, 'Justice for Women: High-Level Group Report', 2019, <https://www.idlo.int/sites/default/files/pdfs/publications/Justice %20For%20Women%20Report%20FINAL.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (UN DESA), *The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2024*, (New York: United Nations, 2024), <<u>https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2024/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2024.pdf</u>>, accessed 6 July 2024
- United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), 'A Resilient Future for All: Advancing Disability Inclusion in Disaster Risk Reduction and Recovery for Building Resilience and Leaving No One Behind', Policy Brief, 28 November 2023, https://www.undp.org/publications/resilient-future-all-advancing-disability-inclusion-disaster-risk -reduction-and-recovery-building-resilience-and-leaving-no-one-behind>, accessed 28 June 2024
- V-Dem Institute, 'Case for Democracy', March 2023, <<u>https://www.v-dem.net/</u> documents/34/C4DReport_230421.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Wagacha, W., 'Access to Information as a Driver towards Closing of the Gender Equality Gap: The Emerging Scene in Kenya', Working Paper, World Library and Information Congress, 2007, <<u>https://www.academia.edu/46884235</u>/Access_to_information_as _a_driver_towards_closing_of_the_gender_equality_gap_the_emerging_scene_in _Kenya>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Weston, M., 'The Benefits of Access to Justice for Economies, Societies, and the Social Contract', Open Government Partnership and Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, 2022, <<u>https://6c192f99-3663-4169-a572-e50276ce5d6d</u> .usrfiles.com/ugd/6c192f_c240bf284a8b40a19e715c152af1b4f0.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- White, B. T., Sepe, S. M. and Masconale, S., 'Urban decay, posterity, and the rule of law', *Emory Law Journal*, 64/1 (2014), <<u>https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle</u> =hein.journals/emlj64&div=5&id=&page=>, accessed 28 June 2024
- World Justice Project (WJP), 'WJP Rule of Law Index 2023 global press release', 25 October 2023, <<u>https://worldjusticeproject.org/news/wjp-rule-law-index-2023</u> -global-press-release>, accessed 29 June 2024

Annex A. Pathfinders' graphic depiction of the SDG 16+ framework



Source: Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, 'Accelerating action on SDG16+', [n.d.], https://www.sdg16.plus, accessed 30 June 2024.

Annex B. Sources analysed for the literature review and meta-analysis

- Academy 4SC, 'Sustainable Development Goal 16: Peace, justice, and strong institutions', [n.d.], <https:// academy4sc.org/video/sustainable-development-goal-16-peace-justice-and-strong-institutions>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Aleem Najam, A., Zahid Naeem, M., Ramona, B. and Valeriu, N. P., 'Investigating the impact of civil liberties and creative class on innovation output and economic growth: An empirical case study for Pakistan', *Annals of the "Constantin Brâncuşi" University of Târgu Jiu*, Economy Series, 3 (2023), <https://www.researchgate .net/profile/Ramona-Birau/publication/373549363_investigating_the_impact_of_civil_liberties_and_creative _class_on_innovation_output_and_economic_growth_an_empirical_case_study_for_pakistan/links/64f0e d64743dc20a6eb2a748/investigating-the-impact-of-civil-liberties-and-creative-class-on-innovation-output -and-economic-growth-an-empirical-case-study-for-pakistan.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Allen, C., Breuer, A., Kercher, J., Balasubramanian, P., Leininger, J. and Gadgil, A., 'The role of good governance in reducing poverty and inequality: Evidence from a scoping review of interlinkages between SDGs 16, 10, and 1', in A. Breuer, D. Malerba, S. Srigiri and P. Balasubramanian (eds), *Governing the Interlinkages between the SDGs: Approaches, Opportunities and Challenges* (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2023)
- Anwar, S. and Cooray, A., 'Financial development, political rights, civil liberties and economic growth: Evidence from South Asia', *Economic Modelling*, 29/3 (2012), pp. 974–81, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2012</u>.02.009>
- Arnold-Fernández, E. E., 'Beyond Access: Refugees' Rights and Justice at Work', New York University Center on International Cooperation, April 2024, <<u>https://cic.nyu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2024/04/Refugees-Rights</u> -and-Justice-at-Work-2024.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Balasubramanian, P., Breuer, A., Leininger, J., Cameron, A. and Kercher, J., 'Sustainable Development Goals (SDG) 16: A Governance Compass towards Just Transition?', German Institute of Development and Sustainability, IDOS Policy Brief No. 4/2022, https://doi.org/10.23661/ipb4.2022>
- Barajas-Sandoval, E., Botero-Pinzón, H., Botero, J. C., Pinzón-Rondón, A. M. and Ruiz-Sternberg, A. M., 'Gender inequality and the rule of law', *Hague Journal on the Rule of Law*, 15 (2023), pp. 95–107, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s40803-022-00175-9>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Beer, C., 'Democracy and gender equality', *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 44 (2009), pp. 212–27, https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12116-009-9043-2, accessed 27 June 2024
- Bell, C., 'Pirates of the Gulf of Guinea: A Cost Analysis for Coastal States', Stable Seas, November 2021, https://www.unodc.org/documents/Maritime_crime/UNODC_Pirates_GoG_A_Cost_Analysis_for_Coastal_States .pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Bennich, T., Persson, Å., Beaussart, R., Allen, C. and Malekpour, S., 'Recurring patterns of SDG interlinkages and how they can advance the 2030 Agenda', *One Earth*, 6/11 (2023), pp. 1465–76, https://doi.org/10.1016/j .oneear.2023.10.008>
- Bircan, C., Brück, T. and Vothknecht, M., 'Violent conflict and inequality', Oxford Development Studies, 45/2 (2017), pp. 125–44, https://doi.org/10.1080/13600818.2016.1213227>
- Birner, R., 'Improving Governance to Eradicate Hunger and Poverty', International Food Policy Research Institute, 2020 Focus Brief on the World's Poor and Hungry People, December 2007, <<u>https://idl-bnc-idrc.dspacedirect</u>.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/70d3f7a6-b042-4d29-b5af-df7ade6700c7/content>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Biser, J. J. and Edwards, J. A., 'Civil liberties and access to water: Analysis of 193 countries', *Applied Econometrics and International Development*, 12/1 (2012), <<u>https://www.usc.gal/economet/reviews/aeid1212.pdf</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024

- Blasiak, R., Wabnitz, C. C. C., Daw, T., Berger, M., Blandon, A., Carneiro, G., Crona, B., Davidson, M. F., Guggisberg, S., Hills, J., Mallin, F., McManus, E., ould-Chih, K., Pittman, J., Santos, X., Westlund, L., Wetterstrand, H. and Wiegler, K., 'Towards greater transparency and coherence in funding for sustainable marine fisheries and healthy oceans', *Marine Policy*, 107 (2019), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j</u> .marpol.2019.04.012>
- Bonar, H. and Filip, A., 'COVID-19-related Trafficking of Medical Products as a Threat to Public Health', United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, Research Brief, [n.d.], <<u>https://www.unodc.org/documents/data-and-analysis/covid/COVID-19_research_brief_trafficking_medical_products.pdf</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Brolan, C. E., 'Human rights practitioners cannot be left behind: Engaging in civil registration and vital statistics (CRVS) systems thinking for country implementation of the Sustainable Development Goal agenda', *Journal of Human Rights Practice*, 11/1 (2019), pp. 22–51, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jhuman/huz009</u>>
- Bromley, M. and Caparini, M., 'SDG16.4 and the collection of data on illicit arms flows: Progress made but challenges ahead', Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, 15 June 2018, <<u>https://www.sipri.org/commentary/topical-backgrounder/2018/sdg164-and-collection-data-illicit-arms-flows-progress</u> -made-challenges-ahead>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Butkiewicz, J. L. and Yanikkaya, H., 'Institutional quality and economic growth: Maintenance of the rule of law or democratic institutions, or both?', *Economic Modelling*, 23/4 (2006), pp. 648–61, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econmod.2006.03.004
- Buvinic, M. and Carey, E., Leaving No One Behind: CRVS, Gender and the SDGs, Knowledge Briefs on Gender and CRVS, Brief 1, Paper 2 (Ottawa, Canada: Centre of Excellence for Civil Registration and Vital Statistics Systems, International Development Research Centre, 2019), https://idl-bnc-idrc .dspacedirect.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/896aa31d-b8d2-4996-b069-451af5903bcb/content, accessed 27 June 2024
- Buvinic, M., Das Gupta, M., Casabonne, U. and Verwimp, P., 'Violent conflict and gender inequality: An overview', *The World Bank Research Observer*, 28/1 (2013), pp. 110–38, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lks011</u>>
- Caparini, M., 'Transnational organized crime: A threat to global public goods', Stockholm International Peace Research Institute, 2 September 2022, <<u>https://www.sipri.org/commentary/topical</u> -backgrounder/2022/transnational-organized-crime-threat-global-public-goods>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Carnoy, M. and Loeb, S., 'Does external accountability affect student outcomes? A cross-state analysis', *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 24/4 (2022), <<u>https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737024004305</u>>
- Cavalieri, M., Finocchiaro Castro, M. and Guccio, C., 'Organised crime and educational outcomes in Southern Italy: An empirical investigation', *Socio-Economic Planning Sciences*, 89 (2023), <<u>https://doi</u> .org/10.1016/j.seps.2023.101705>
- Chen, D. and Deakin, S., 'On heaven's lathe: State, rule of law, and economic development', *Law and Development Review*, 8/1 (2015), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1515/ldr-2014-0031</u>>
- Chilton, M., Knowles, M., Rabinowich, J. and Arnold, K. T., 'The relationship between childhood adversity and food insecurity: "It's like a bird nesting in your head", *Public Health Nutrition*, 18/14 (2015), pp. 2643–53, https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980014003036>
- Cociña, C., Apsan Frediani, A., Macarthy, J. and Sevilla Núñez, P., 'Housing Policy Options to Tackle Urban Inequalities', Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies and International Institute for Environment and Development, Policy Brief Series, July 2023, https://s42831.pcdn.co/wp-content/uploads/2023/07/Housing-Policy-Options-to-Tackle-Urban-Inequalities-2023.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024

- Cody, C., Count Every Child: The Right to Birth Registration (Woking, UK: Plan Ltd., 2009), <https://www .ohchr.org/sites/default/files/Documents/Issues/Children/BirthRegistration/PlanInternational3 _birthRegistration.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Cuartas, J., Bhatia, A., Carter, D., Cluver, L., Coll, C., Donger, E., Draper, C. E., Gardner, F., Herbert, B., Kelly, O., Lachman, J., M'jid, N. M. and Seidel, F., 'Climate change is a threat multiplier for violence against children', *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28 August 2023, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chiabu.2023.106430>
- Currie, J. and Spatz Widom, C., 'Long-term consequences of child abuse and neglect on adult economic well-being', *Child Maltreatment*, 15/2 (2010), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1077559509355316</u>>
- Davidson, G., Bunting, L., Bywaters, P., Featherstone, B. and McCartan, C., 'Child welfare as justice: Why are we not effectively addressing inequalities?', *The British Journal of Social Work*, 47/6 (2017), pp. 1641–51, https://doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bcx094>
- De Bremond, A. and Engle, N. L., 'Adaptation policies to increase terrestrial ecosystem resilience: Potential utility of a multicriteria approach', *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 19/3 (2014), pp. 331–54, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-014-9541-z
- Del Río Duque, M. L., Rodríguez, T., Pérez Lora, Á. P., Löhr, K., Romero, M., Castro-Nunez, A., Sieber, S. and Bonatti, M., 'Understanding systemic land use dynamics in conflict-affected territories: The cases of Cesar and Caquetá, Colombia', *PLoS ONE*, 17/5 (2022), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone</u>.0269088>
- Dhakal, R. K., 'Promoting gender inclusive governance to deliver better education in Nepal', International Journal of Social Sciences and Educational Studies, 6/1 (2019), https://doi.org/10.23918/ijsses .v6i1p83>
- Di Cataldo, M. and Mastrorocco, N., 'Organized crime, captured politicians, and the allocation of public resources', *The Journal of Law, Economics, & Organization*, 38/3 (2022), pp. 774–839, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jleo/ewab015</u>>
- Dingake, O. B. K., 'The rule of law as a social determinant of health', *Health and Human Rights*, 19/2 (2017), pp. 295–98, <<u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5739377/</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Dridi, M., 'Corruption and education: Empirical evidence', International Journal of Economics and Financial Issues, 4/3 (2014), pp. 476–93, https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/article-file/362879, accessed 27 June 2024
- Dulume, W., 'Linking the SDGs with human rights: Opportunities and challenges of promoting Goal 17', *The Journal of Sustainable Development Law and Policy*, 10/1 (2019), <<u>https://doi.org/10.4314/jsdlp.v10i1</u> .3>
- Dwi Nugroho, A., Cubillos Tovar, J. P., Bopushev, S. T., Bozsik, N., Fehér, I. and Lakner, Z., 'Effects of corruption control on the number of undernourished people in developing countries', *Foods*, 11/7 (2022), <<u>https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11070924</u>>
- Eicher, T. S., García-Peñalosa, C. and Kuenzel, D. J., 'Constitutional rules as determinants of social infrastructure', *Journal of Macroeconomics*, 57 (2018), pp. 182–209, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmacro.2018.05.009</u>>
- Endeley, A. N. and Molua, E. L., 'Gender and conflict in Africa: Beyond stereotypes to analytical reflections', in S. O. Ehiane, L. S. Shulika and C. H. Vhumbunu (eds), *Engagement of Africa in Conflict Dynamics and Peace Architectures* (Singapore: Palgrave Macmillan, 2024), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-99</u> -8235-6_15>
- Filippaios, F., Annan-Diab, F., Hermidas, A. and Theodoraki, C., 'Political governance, civil liberties, and human capital: Evaluating their effect on foreign direct investment in emerging and developing economies', *Journal of International Business Studies*, 50 (2019), pp. 1103–29, <<u>https://doi.org/10</u> .1057/s41267-019-00239-3>

- Flood, C. M., MacDonnell, V., Thomas, B. and Wilson, K., 'Reconciling civil liberties and public health in the response to COVID-19', *Facets*, 5/1 (2020), https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2020-0070
- Folayan, M. O., Schroth, R. J., Ayouni, I., Nguweneza, A., Arheiam, A., Al-Batayneh, O. B., Virtanen, J. I., Gaffar, B., Duangthip, D., Sun, I. G., Mohebbi, S., Feldens, C. A. and El Tantawi, M., 'A scoping review linking early childhood caries to violence, neglect, internally displaced, migrant and refugee status', *BMC Oral Health*, 23 (2023), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12903-023-03459-0</u>>
- Franco-Vivanco, E., Martinez-Alvarez, C. B. and Flores Martínez, I., 'Oil theft and violence in Mexico', *Journal* of Politics in Latin America, 15/2 (2023), https://doi.org/10.1177/1866802X231176572
- Francois, J. N., Kakeu, J. and Kouame, C., 'Do better institutions broaden access to sanitation in sub-Sahara Africa?', *Contemporary Economic Policy*, 39/2 (2021), pp. 435–52, https://doi.org/10.1111/coep.12512
- Fruchtman, C. S., Socha, A., Monzón Llamas, L., AbouZahr, C., Dincu, I. and Cobos Muñoz, D., 'Building resilient CRVS systems: Lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic and other emergencies', in *Compendium of Good Practices: Harnessing Civil Registration and Vital Statistics (CRVS) Systems in Conflict, Emergencies, and Fragile Settings* (Ottawa, Canada: Centre of Excellence for Civil Registration and Vital Statistics Systems, International Development Research Centre, 2021), <https://crvssystems .ca/fragility>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Fuo, O., 'Funding and good financial governance: Imperatives for cities' pursuit of SDG 11', in H. P. Aust and A. du Plessis (eds), The Globalisation of Urban Governance: Legal Perspectives on Sustainable Development Goal 11 (Routledge, 2020)
- Gebhardt, C., 'The impact of participatory governance on regional development pathways: Citizen-driven smart, green and inclusive urbanism in the Brainport metropolitan region', *Triple Helix*, 6 (2019), pp. 69–110, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1163/21971927-00601003</u>>
- Geneva Centre for Security Sector Governance (DCAF), Sustainable Development Goal 16: The Importance of Good Security Sector Governance for the Achievement of the 2030 Agenda, SSR Backgrounder Series (Geneva: DCAF, 2021), https://www.dcaf.ch/sites/default/files/publications/documents/DCAF_BG_21_SustainableDevelopment_0.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Gill, G. and Ramachandran, G., 'Sustainability transformations, environmental rule of law and the Indian judiciary: Connecting the dots through climate change litigation', *Environmental Law Review*, 23/3 (2021), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/14614529211031203</u>>
- Giuffrida, I., 'Smart cities and sustainability: A new challenge to accountability', *William & Mary Environmental Law and Policy Review*, 45/3 (2021), <<u>https://scholarship.law.wm.edu/wmelpr/vol45/</u> iss3/5/>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Glass, L.-M. and Newig, J., 'Governance for achieving the Sustainable Development Goals: How important are participation, policy coherence, reflexivity, adaptation and democratic institutions?', *Earth System Governance*, 2 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esg.2019.100031>
- Gollagher, M. and Hartz-Karp, J., 'The role of deliberative collaborative governance in achieving sustainable cities', *Sustainability*, 5/6 (2013), pp. 2343–66, https://doi.org/10.3390/su5062343
- Gramatikov, M., 'Climate Change & Access to Justice', Hague Institute for Innovation of Law, Policy Brief, 2023, <<u>https://dashboard.hiil.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/HiiL-Policy-Brief-2023-01_Climate</u> -Change-and-Access-to-Justice_final-1.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Haghighi, H. and Takian, A., 'Institutionalization for good governance to reach sustainable health development: A framework analysis', *Globalization and Health*, 20 (2024), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12992-023-01009-5</u>>
- Hamal, M., de Cock Buning, T., De Brouwere, V., Bardají, A. and Dieleman, M., 'How does social accountability contribute to better maternal health outcomes? A qualitative study on perceived

changes with government and civil society actors in Gujarat, India', BMC Health Services Research, 18 (2018), https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3453-7

- Hamilton, N. D., 'Feeding the world's future: Agrarian justice and the rule of law', *Drake Journal of Agricultural Law*, 13/3 (2008), pp. 545–60, <<u>https://aglawjournal.wp.drake.edu/wp-content/uploads/</u> sites/66/2016/09/agVol13No3-Hamilton.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Han, L., Li, X. and Xu, G., 'Anti-corruption and poverty alleviation: Evidence from China', *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization*, 203 (2022), pp. 150–72, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2022.09.001</u>>
- Harding, R., 'Who is democracy good for? Elections, rural bias, and health and education outcomes in sub-Saharan Africa', *The Journal of Politics*, 82/1 (2020), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1086/705745</u>>
- Harris, K., 'Bread and freedom: Linking democracy and food security in sub-Saharan Africa', *African Studies Quarterly*, 15/1 (2014), pp. 13–35, <<u>https://asq.africa.ufl.edu/harris_december14</u>/>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Hoffman, D., Zanello, G., Mozaffarian, D. and Micha, R., 'Enhancing nutrition action through accountability and transparency', UN-Nutrition Journal, 1 (2022), pp. 90–93, https://doi.org/10.4060/cc2805en>
- Hope Sr., K. R., 'Peace, justice and inclusive institutions: Overcoming challenges to the implementation of Sustainable Development Goal 16', *Global Change, Peace & Security*, 32/1 (2019), pp. 57–77, https://doi.org/10.1080/14781158.2019.1667320
- Hopkins, R. F., 'The role of governance in economic development', in J. W. Harbeson, R. F. Hopkins and D. G. Smith (eds), *Responsible Governance: The Global Challenge: Essays in Honor of Charles E. Gilbert* (Rowman & Littlefield, 1994), pp. 101–19, <<u>https://works.swarthmore.edu/fac-poli-sci/260</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Hove, J., D'Ambruoso, L., Mabetha, D., van der Merwe, M., Byass, P., Kahn, K., Khosa, S., Witter, S. and Twine, R., "Water is life": Developing community participation for clean water in rural South Africa', *BMJ Global Health*, 4/3 (2019), https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2018-001377>
- Hung Mo, P., 'Corruption and economic growth', *Journal of Comparative Economics*, 29/1 (2001), pp. 66–79, https://doi.org/10.1006/jcec.2000.1703
- Hunter, W., 'Identity documents, welfare enhancement, and group empowerment in the Global South', *The Journal of Development Studies*, 55/3 (2018), pp. 366–83, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2018</u>.1451637>
- ICF Macro, 'Child Labor in the Fishing Industry in Uganda', October 2011, <<u>https://ecommons.cornell.edu/</u> server/api/core/bitstreams/20c8c130-480e-46da-9123-842c70f98f2b/content>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Idris, M. and Salisu, S. J., 'Corruption and infrastructural development in Nigeria', *International Journal* of Arts & Sciences, 9/1 (2016), pp. 135–46, <<u>https://www.universitypublications.net/ijas/0901/pdf/</u>A6A147.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- İlgü Özler, Ş. and Rahmaty, M., 'Integrating Goal 16 and human rights with all SDGs vital to the 2030 Agenda', IPI Global Observatory, 14 June 2019, <<u>https://theglobalobservatory.org/2019/06/integrating</u>-goal-16-human-rights-with-all-sdgs-vital-to-2030-agenda/>, accessed 28 June 2024
- International Association of Universities (IAU) and United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), Higher Education Engages with SDG 16: Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions (Paris: IAU and UNODC, 2021), <https://www.iau-aiu.net/IMG/pdf/higher_ed_sdg16_iau_2021.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- International Development Law Organization, 'Goal 16: Peace, justice and strong institutions', [n.d.], https://www.idlo.int/sustainable-development-goals/goal-16-peace-justice-and-strong-institutions, accessed 28 June 2024
- Iqbal, Z., 'Health and human security: The public health impact of violent conflict', *International Studies Quarterly*, 50/3 (2006), pp. 631–49, ">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2478.2006.00417.x>

- Jahanzeb Butt, M., 'The role of the international law in shaping the governance for Sustainable Development Goals', *Journal of Law and Political Sciences*, 28/3 (2021), <<u>https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3857234</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Jenkins, M., 'Tracking corruption across the Sustainable Development Goals', Transparency International [blog], 25 March 2021, https://www.transparency.org/en/blog/tracking-corruption-across-the-sustainable-development-goals, accessed 27 June 2024
- Jennett, V., Enabling the Implementation of the 2030 Agenda through SDG 16+: Anchoring Peace, Justice and Inclusion (New York, NY: United Nations, 2019), <<u>https://www.sdg16hub.org</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Justino, P., Leone, M. and Salardi, P., 'Short- and long-term impact of violence on education: The case of Timor Leste', *The World Bank Economic Review*, 28/2 (2014), pp. 320–53, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/lht007</u>>
- Kallergis, A., 'At Risk: Environmental Mobility in African Coastal Cities', Robert Bosch Stiftung, August 2022, https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_">https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_">https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_">https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_">https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_">https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk_">https://www.bosch-stiftung.de/sites/default/files/publications/pdf/2022-09/Publikation_At%20Risk
- Kearney, J., Berkes, F., Charles, A., Pinkerton, E. and Wiber, M., 'The role of participatory governance and community-based management in integrated coastal and ocean management in Canada', *Coastal Management*, 35/1 (2007), pp. 79–104, https://doi.org/10.1080/10.1080/08920750600970511
- Kempin Reuter, T., 'Human rights and the city: Including marginalized communities in urban development and smart cities', *Journal of Human Rights*, 18/4 (2019), pp. 382–402, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/</u> 14754835.2019.1629887>
- Kercher, J. and Breuer, A., 'SDG 16 Interlinkages: Summary of Research Findings', UNDP Oslo Governance Centre, July 2021, <<u>https://www.undp.org/policy-centre/governance/publications/sdg-16-interlinkages</u> -summary-findings>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Kishore, J. and Tripathi, N., 'Role of community participation in achieving universal health coverage', International Journal of Preventive, Curative & Community Medicine, 5/2 (2019), https://medical.advancedresearchpublications.com/index.php/Preventive-Curative-CommunityMed/article/view/95, accessed 27 June 2024
- Kjorram-Manesh, A., 'Global transition, global risks, and the UN's Sustainable Development Goals: A call for peace, justice, and political stability', *Global Transitions*, 5 (2023), pp. 90–97, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.glt.2023.06.002</u>>
- Klima, N., 'Preventing/countering violent extremism and the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals: An impact nexus', *Freedom from Fear Magazine*, No. 17, UNICRI, 2023, pp. 3–22, <<u>https://biblio.ugent.be/publication/01H13X5HHTN156SMDVB3193JE8</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Klima, N., Vasconcelos Senra, J. M. and De Backer, J., 'Higher education institutions (HEIs) and SDG 16: Inter- and transdisciplinary cooperation towards impact', United Nations Interregional Crime and Justice Research Institute, 2021, <<u>https://unicri.it/sites/default/files/2021-12/22_IF_highr_ed.pdf</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Koyuncu, C. and Yilmaz, R., 'The impact of corruption on deforestation: A cross-country evidence', *The Journal of Developing Areas*, 42/2 (2009), pp. 213–22, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.0.0010</u>>
- Krylova, Y., 'Corruption and gender inequality: The case of Nicaragua', International Journal of Ethics, 12/4 (2016), https://openurl.ebsco.com/EPDB%3Agcd%3A12%3A13037756/detailv2?sid=ebsco%3Aplink%3Ascholar&id=ebsco%3Agcd%3A125053449&crl=c, accessed 27 June 2024
- Läderach, P., Ramirez-Villegas, J., Caroli, G., Sadoff, C. and Pacillo, G., 'Climate finance and peace—tackling the climate and humanitarian crisis', *The Lancet: Planetary Health*, 5/12 (2021), <<u>https://doi.org/10</u> .1016/S2542-5196(21)00295-3>

Landman, T. and Larizza, M., 'Inequality and human rights: Who controls what, when, and how', International Studies Quarterly, 53/3 (2009), pp. 715–36, ">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2478.2009.00553.x>

- Laumann, F., von Kügelgen, J., Kanashiro Uehara, T. H. and Barahona, M., 'Complex interlinkages, key objectives, and nexuses among the Sustainable Development Goals and climate change: A network analysis', *The Lancet: Planetary Health*, 6/5 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(22)00070-5>
- Lawrence, A. W., Ihebuzor, N. and Lawrence, D. O., 'Comparative analysis of alignments between SDG16 and the other Sustainable Development Goals', *International Business Research*, 13/10 (2020), <https:// doi.org/10.5539/ibr.v13n10p13>
- Lazenbatt, A., 'The Impact of Abuse and Neglect on the Health and Mental Health of Children', NSPCC, Research Briefing, February 2010, <<u>https://www.choiceforum.org/docs/impactabuse.pdf</u>>, accessed 27 June 2024
- LeBrón, A. M. W., Lopez, W. D., Cowan, K., Novak, N. L., Temrowski, O., Ibarra-Frayre, M. and Delva, J., 'Restrictive ID policies: Implications for health equity', *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, 20 (2018), pp. 255–60, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10903-017-0579-3
- Lepcha, N. and Paul, S., 'Exploring violence against children under Sustainable Development Goals', in W. Leal Filho, A. Marisa Azul, L. Brandli, A. Lange Salvia and T. Wall (eds), *Encyclopedia of the UN Sustainable Development Goals, Gender Equality* (Springer, 2021), https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319 -95687-9_72>
- Lewis, S. G., Alifano, A., Boyle, M. and Mangel, M., 'Human rights and the sustainability of fisheries', in P. S. Levin and M. R. Poe (eds), *Conservation for the Anthropocene Ocean: Interdisciplinary Science in Support of Nature and People* (London: Elsevier, 2017), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805375-1</u>.00018-0>
- Locke, R., 'Peace in Our Cities in a Time of Pandemic', UK AID, March 2021, <<u>https://catcher.sandiego.edu/</u> items/usd/Peace%20in%20Our%20Cities%20in%20a%20Time%20of%20Pandemic%204.29.21.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Mackenzie, S. and Yates, D., 'Crime, corruption, and collateral damage: Large infrastructure projects as a threat to cultural heritage', in T. Wing Lo, D. Siegel and S. I. Kwok (eds), *Organized Crime and Corruption across Borders: Exploring the Belt and Road Initiative* (London: Routledge, 2020), <<u>https://</u> traffickingculture.org/app/uploads/2020/04/Mackenzie-Yates-2020-UNCORREDTED-PROOF.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Mahmood, H., Tanveer, M. and Furqan, M., 'Rule of law, corruption control, governance, and economic growth in managing renewable and nonrenewable energy consumption in South Asia', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18/20 (2021), https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182010637>
- Mahmud, T. and Prowse, M., 'Corruption in cyclone preparedness and relief efforts in coastal Bangladesh: Lessons for climate adaptation?', *Global Environmental Change*, 22/4 (2012), pp. 933–43, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2012.07.003</u>>
- Mantegazza, L., 'Sustainable Development Goals and One Health: SDG 16', UF/IFAS One Health [University of Florida blog], 9 March 2023, https://blogs.ifas.ufl.edu/onehealth/2023/03/09/sustainable-development-goals-and-one-health-sdg-16/, accessed 27 June 2024
- Marcella, R. and Chowdhury, G., 'Eradicating information poverty: An agenda for research', *Journal* of Librarianship and Information Science, 52/2 (2020), pp. 366–81, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0961000618804589</u>>
- Maru, V., 'A pathway to climate and environmental justice', *American Journal of Law and Equality*, 3 (2023), pp. 103–49, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1162/ajle_a_00060</u>>

- Mayanja, C. S. and Nkata, J. L., 'Pursuing Sustainable Development Goals in Uganda: Do anti-corruption strategies of management development institutes matter?', *Journal of Public Administration and Policy Research*, 11/4 (2019), pp. 38–47, https://doi.org/10.5897/JPAPR2019.0457>
- Mbise, A. T., 'Birth certificates, birth registration and the denial of human rights: Evidence from Tanzania National Panel Data 2010/11', *The International Journal of Children's Rights*, 28/2 (2020), pp. 243–57, https://doi.org/10.1163/15718182-02802002
- McDermott, C. L., Acheampong, E., Arora-Jonsson, S., Asare, R., de Jong, W., Hirons, M., Khatun, K., Menton, M., Nunan, F., Poudyal, M. and Setyowati, A., 'SDG 16: Peace, justice and strong institutions—A political ecology perspective', in P. Katila, C. J. Pierce Colfer, W. de Jong, G. Galloway, P. Pacheco and G. Winkel (eds), Sustainable Development Goals: Their Impacts on Forests and People (Cambridge University Press, 2019), <https://gala.gre.ac.uk/id/eprint/27125/7/27125%20KHATUN_SDG_16_Peace_Justice _And_String_Institutions_Political_Ecology_Perspective_%280A%29_2019.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Milton, S., 'Higher education and Sustainable Development Goal 16 in fragile and conflict-affected contexts', *Higher Education*, 81 (2021), pp. 89–108, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-020-00617-z
- Mollick, A. S., Rahman, K., Khan, N. I. and Sadath, N., 'Evaluation of good governance in a participatory forestry program: A case study in Madhupur Sal forests of Bangladesh', *Forest Policy and Economics*, 95 (2018), pp. 123–37, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2018.07.014>
- Moy, A., Cram, S. and Maru, V., 'The Case to Fund and Protect Grassroots Justice Defenders', Justice for All, Policy Brief, January 2019, <<u>https://grassrootsjusticenetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/</u> Justice-For-All_Policy-Brief_MedRes_5.31.2019.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Mugumya, F., Asaba, R. B., Kamya, I. R. and Asingwire, N., 'Children and domestic water collection in Uganda: Exploring policy and intervention options that promote child protection', in D. Kaawa-Mafigiri and E. Walakira (eds), *Child Abuse and Neglect in Uganda*, Child Maltreatment: Contemporary Issues in Research and Policy, vol. 6 (Springer, 2017), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-48535-5_6</u>>
- Mukombwe, J. S., du Toit, A. and Hendriks, S. L., 'Sustainable Development Goal 16: Peace, justice and strong institutions', in S. L. Hendriks and S. C. Babu (eds), *Handbook on Public Policy and Food Security* (Elgaronline, 2024), https://doi.org/10.4337/9781839105449.00041
- Nagy, R., Bérczi, L., Sáfár, B. and Kállai, K., 'The relationship of environmental migration and human trafficking concerning natural hazards at the affected regions of Africa', *Journal of Central and Eastern European African Studies*, 3/1 (2024), pp. 17–46, https://doi.org/10.59569/jceeas.2023.3.1.209>
- Nayyer, M. I., Aravindan Mukkai, R. and Thillai Rajan, A., 'Effect of transparency on the development phase of public-private partnership: Analysis of highway projects', *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, vol. 1101, *Planning Partnership and Law*, 2022, https://doi.org/10.1088/1755
- Newig, J. and Fritsch, O., 'Environmental governance: Participatory, multi-level—and effective?', Environmental Policy and Governance, 19/3 (2009), pp. 197–214, https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.509>
- Ngoc Nguyen, B. and Gordon, M., 'Human trafficking and gender inequality in remote communities of central Vietnam', *Journal of Sustainable Social Change*, 12/1 (2019), <<u>https://scholarworks.waldenu</u>.edu/jsc/vol12/iss1/11/>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Nifo, A., Scalera D. and Vecchione, G., 'The rule of law and educational choices: Evidence from Italian regions', *Regional Studies*, 51/7 (2017), pp. 1048–62, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00343404.2016</u>.1262945>
- Nilsson, M., Chisholm, E., Griggs, D., Howden-Chapman, P., McCollum, D., Messerli, P., Neumann, B., Stevance, A.-S., Visbeck, M. and Stafford-Smith, M., 'Mapping interactions between the Sustainable Development Goals: Lessons learned and ways forward', *Sustainability Science*, 13 (2018), pp. 1489– 503, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-018-0604-z

- Nilsson, M., Griggs, D. and Visbeck, M., 'Policy: Map the interactions between Sustainable Development Goals', *Nature*, 534 (2016), pp. 320–22, https://doi.org/10.1038/534320a
- Norgaard, S., 'Violence as a genre of urban life: Urban sustainability and (in)security in South African cities', Journal of Urban Affairs, 45/3 (2023), pp. 630–46, https://doi.org/10.1080/07352166.2021.1977140
- O'Neil Richard, A., International Trafficking in Women to the United States: A Contemporary Manifestation of Slavery and Organized Crime (Washington, DC: Center for the Study of Intelligence, 1999), <https:// www.cia.gov/resources/csi/static/9dc85527075bc84f9e1f2eef0e7a0915/trafficking.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Equal Access to Justice: OECD Roundtable Background Notes (Paris: OECD, 2015), https://www.oecd.org/gov/Equal-Access-Justice -Roundtable-background-note.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Owolabi, E. F., 'Child abuse and sustainable development in Nigeria', *African Journal of Social Sciences*, 2/2 (2012), pp. 108–19, <<u>https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=7f416fac51</u> 9f5410269b1db005cee5c211c0dd98>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, *The Roadmap for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies: A Call to Action to Change Our World* (New York: Center on International Cooperation, 2019), <<u>https://www.sdg16.plus/resources/the-roadmap-for-peaceful-just-and-inclusive-societies/</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Paxson, C. and Waldfogel, J., 'Work, Welfare, and Child Maltreatment', National Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper No. 7343, September 1999, <<u>https://www.nber.org/papers/w7343</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Pi, J. and Zhang, P., 'Organized crime and wage inequality', *Scottish Journal of Political Economy*, 67/3 (2020), pp. 344–61, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1111/sjpe.12238</u>>
- Pinheiro, A. B., Sampaio, T. S. L., Rodrigues, R. C. and Batistella, A. J., 'Democracy, corruption and civil liberties: Does national context influence corporate carbon disclosure?', *Brazilian Journal of Management / Revista de Administração da UFSM*, 15/3 (2022), pp. 434–52, <<u>https://doi.org/10.5902/</u> 1983465969190>
- Polachek, S. W. and Sevastianova, D., 'Does conflict disrupt growth? Evidence of the relationship between political instability and national economic performance', *The Journal of International Trade & Economic Development*, 21/3 (2012), pp. 361–88, https://doi.org/10.1080/09638191003749783>
- Pomeroy, R., Parks, J., Lorenz Mrakovcich, K. and LaMonica, C., 'Drivers and impacts of fisheries scarcity, competition, and conflict on maritime security', *Marine Policy*, 67 (2016), pp. 94–104, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.01.005</u>>
- Pommells, M., Schuster-Wallace, C., Watt, S. and Mulawa, Z., 'Gender violence as a water, sanitation, and hygiene risk: Uncovering violence against women and girls as it pertains to poor WaSH access', *Violence against Women*, 24/15 (2018), pp. 1851–62, https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801218754410
- Quidgest, Sustainable Development Goal 16 website, [n.d.], <https://quidgest.com/en/solutions/world -development/sdg-16/>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Rabnawaz, A., 'Corruption, inequality and economic growth', *Developing Country Studies*, 5/15 (2015), https://ssrn.com/abstract=2796339, accessed 28 June 2024
- Raftopoulos, M., 'REDD+ and human rights: Addressing the urgent need for a full community-based human rights impact assessment', *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 20/4 (2016), pp. 509–30, https://doi.org/10.1080/13642987.2015.1115266>
- Razali, R. M., Mohd, T. A. M. T. and Zulkifli, A. A., 'Analysis of gaps on completeness of birth registration in Malaysia', *Journal of Education and Social Sciences*, 23/1 (2023), pp. 33–44, <<u>https://www.jesoc.com/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/JESOC23.ISU-1_002.pdf</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024

- Reitano, T. and Hunter, M., 'Mitigating the threat of organised crime to Africa's development', ENACT, Policy Brief, February 2018, <<u>https://globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/ENACT-Policy-Brief</u> -001-SDGs-15Feb10151.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Reynolds, L. and McKee, M., 'Organised crime and the efforts to combat it: A concern for public health', *Globalization and Health*, 6 (2010), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1744-8603-6-21</u>>
- Romano, E., Babchishin, L., Marquis, R. and Fréchette, S., 'Childhood maltreatment and educational outcomes', *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse*, 16/4 (2015), pp. 418–37, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014537908</u>>
- Saengchai, S., Maneerat, M. and Pissanu, H., 'Judging quality of education from social paradigm in Asia: Effect of civil liberties, regulatory quality and voice and accountability', *Journal of Security & Sustainability Issues*, 9/J (2020), <https://openurl.ebsco.com/EPDB%3Agcd%3A9%3A22173561/ detailv2?bquery=IS%202029-7017%20AND%20VI%209%20AND%20IP%20J%20AND%20DT%202020& page=1>, accessed 28 June 2024
- San Chia, P., Hook Law, S., Trinugroho, I., Wiwoho, J., Maya Damayanti, S. and Sergi, B. S., 'Dynamic linkages among transparency, income inequality and economic growth in developing countries: Evidence from panel vector autoregressive (PVAR) model', *Research in International Business and Finance*, 60 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ribaf.2021.101599>
- Sartal A., Bellas, R., Mejías A. M. and García-Collado, A., 'The sustainable manufacturing concept, evolution and opportunities within Industry 4.0: A literature review', *Advances in Mechanical Engineering*, 12/5 (2020), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1687814020925232></u>
- Schmider, A., 'Advocating for Civil Registration: Guide to Developing a Business Case for Civil Registration', School of Population Health, University of Queensland, Working Paper Series No. 15, November 2010, http://www.crvs-dgb.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/HISHUB-WP15-10-WEB-17Oct12-GUIDETODEVELOPBUSCASE.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- SDG 16 Hub, 'COVID-19 and SDG 16', [n.d.], <https://www.sdg16hub.org/dashboard/covid-19-and-sdg-16>, accessed 28 June 2024
- -, 'SDG 16 interlinkages', [n.d.], <https://www.sdg16hub.org/landing-page/interlinkages>, accessed 28 June 2024
- -, 'Parliaments', [n.d.], <https://www.sdg16hub.org/landing-page/parliaments>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Segall, C., 'The forestry crisis as a crisis of the rule of law', *Stanford Law Review*, 58/5 (2010), pp. 1539–62, https://www.stanfordlawreview.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2010/04/segall.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Segato, L., Mattioli, W., Capello, N. and Migliorini, M., 'Environmental crimes in the water sector', *Water Utility Journal*, 20 (2018), pp. 13–27, https://www.ewra.net/wuj/pdf/WUJ_2018_20_02.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Senath, E. R., 'Gender, governance and participatory development in Uganda: Lessons for the local government', in M. Prah (ed.), *Insights into Gender Equity, Equality and Power Relations in Sub-Saharan Africa* (Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: Organisation for Social Science Research in Eastern and Southern African, 2013)
- Setzer, J. and Higham, C., 'Global Trends in Climate Change Litigation: 2023 Snapshot', Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment and Centre for Climate Change Economics and Policy, London School of Economics and Political Science, June 2023, <<u>https://www.lse.ac.uk/</u> granthaminstitute/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/Global_trends_in_climate_change_litigation_2023 _snapshot.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- Shaw, M. and Reitano, T., 'Adapting Sustainable Development Goal 16 to crime under COVID', Global Initiative against Transnational Organized Crime, 13 July 2021, https://globalinitiative.net/analysis/ sustainable-development-goal-16-crime-covid/>, accessed 27 June 2024

- Shejale, S., Xinyu Zhan, M. and Sahakian, M., 'What Forms of Citizenship in European Energy Initiatives? Deterrents and Enablers to Further Support a Just Energy Transition', Dialogues: Energy Citizenship for a Sustainable Future, 31 October 2022, <<u>https://www.dialoguesproject.eu/wp-content/uploads/</u> 2023/03/DIALOGUES-D3.3.-What-forms-of-citizenship-in-European-energy-initiatives-Deterrents-and -enablers-to-further-support-a-just-energy-transition.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Shettima, A., Elheddad, M., Bassim, M. and Alfar, A. J. K., 'The impact of conflict on energy poverty: Evidence from sub-Saharan Africa', *Resources Policy*, 86 (2023), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol</u>.2023.104090>
- Singer, M., 'Drugs and development: The global impact of drug use and trafficking on social and economic development', *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 19/6 (2008), pp. 467–78, https://doi.org/10.1016/j .drugpo.2006.12.007>
- Sohail, M. and Savill, S., 'Water for the poor: Corruption in water supply and sanitation', in D. Zinnbauer and R. Dobson (eds), *Global Corruption Report 2008: Corruption in the Water Sector* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press and Transparency International, 2008), <<u>https://www.wasser-in</u> -buergerhand.de/untersuchungen/Transpar_Int_2008_3_Water_and_sanitation.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Spyromitros, E. and Panagiotidis, M., 'The impact of corruption on economic growth in developing countries and a comparative analysis of corruption measurement indicators', *Cogent Economics & Finance*, 10/1 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1080/23322039.2022.2129368
- Stewart, S., 'The Relationship between Justice and Equality', Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, Research Paper, June 2022, <<u>https://6c192f99-3663-4169-a572-e50276ce5d6d.usrfiles</u>.com/ugd/6c192f_3f2c9eb1c7904d49b5f9a4b16f66e98d.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Strasburger, V. C., Jordan, A. B. and Donnerstein, E., 'Health effects of media on children and adolescents', *Pediatrics*, 125/4 (2010), pp. 756–67, https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2009-2563
- Stritzke, S., Trotter, P. A. and Twesigye, P., 'Towards responsive energy governance: Lessons from a holistic analysis of energy access in Uganda and Zambia', *Energy Policy*, 148 (2021), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2020.111934</u>>
- Suka, M., Odajima, T., Okamoto, M., Sumitani, M., Igarashi, A., Ishikawa, H., Kusama, M., Yamamoto, M., Nakayama, T. and Sugimori, H., 'Relationship between health literacy, health information access, health behavior, and health status in Japanese people', *Patient Education and Counseling*, 98/5 (2015), pp. 660–68, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pec.2015.02.013</u>>
- Sumaila, U. R., Jacquet, J. and Witter, A., 'When bad gets worse: Corruption and fisheries', in A. Williams and P. Le Billon (eds), Corruption, Natural Resources and Development: From Resource Curse to Political Ecology (Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing, 2017), https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785361203 .00015>
- TAP Network, 'Amplified Commitments and Partnerships for Accelerated Action: Rome Civil Society Declaration on SDG16+', May 2019, <<u>https://www.idlo.int/system/files/event-documents/Rome%20</u> Civil%20Society%20Declaration%20on%20SDG16%2B%20-%20FINAL.PDF>, accessed 28 June 2024
- -, SDG16+ Civil Society Toolkit: A Practical Resource Guide for Planning, Implementation and Accountability to Build Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, [n.d.], <<u>https://www.sdg16toolkit.org</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Turner, M., Ginifer, J. and Cliffe, L., 'The Impact of Armed Violence on Poverty and Development: Full Report of the Armed Violence and Poverty Initiative', Centre of International Cooperation and Security, Department of Peace Studies, University of Bradford, 2005, <<u>https://bradscholars.brad.ac.uk/</u> <u>bitstream/handle/10454/1006/AVPI_Synthesis_Report.pdf</u>>, accessed 28 June 2024

- UN Women, International Development Law Organization, World Bank and Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, 'Justice for Women: High-Level Group Report', 2019, <<u>https://www.idlo.int/</u> sites/default/files/pdfs/publications/Justice%20For%20Women%20Report%20FINAL.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs, 'Energy and SDG 16: Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions', Policy Brief 7, 2019, <<u>https://sdgs.un.org/sites/default/files/2021-05/POLICY%20BRIEF</u> %207%20-%20ENERGY%20AND%20SDG%2016%20PEACE%2C%20JUSTICE%20AND%20STRONG%20 INSTITUTIONS.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- United Nations Development Programme, 'A Resilient Future for All: Advancing Disability Inclusion in Disaster Risk Reduction and Recovery for Building Resilience and Leaving No One Behind', Policy Brief, 28 November 2023, <<u>https://www.undp.org/publications/resilient-future-all-advancing-disability</u> -inclusion-disaster-risk-reduction-and-recovery-building-resilience-and-leaving-no-one-behind>, accessed 28 June 2024
- United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, 'Education for sustainable development', [n.d.], <https://www.unesco.org/en/sustainable-development/education>, accessed 28 June 2024
- United Nations Environment Programme, 'Goal 16: Peace, justice and strong institutions', [n.d.], https://www.unep.org/explore-topics/sustainable-development-goals/why-do-sustainable-development-goals-matter/goal-16>, accessed 28 June 2024
- United Nations Global Compact, 'Blueprint for business leadership on the SDGs', 2018, <<u>https://blueprint</u>.unglobalcompact.org/sdgs/sdg16/>, accessed 28 June 2024
- United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights, 'Conflict and violence are the primary causes of hunger and famine, Special Rapporteur on the Right to Food tells the Human Rights Council', 9 March 2023, https://www.ohchr.org/en/news/2023/03/conflict-and-violence-are-primary-causes-hunger-and-famine-special-rapporteur-right, accessed 28 June 2024
- United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime (UNODC), United Nations Office of the High Commissioner for Human Rights (OHCHR) and United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), *Global Progress Report on Sustainable Development Goal 16 Indicators: A Wake-Up Call for Action on Peace, Justice and Inclusion* (UNODC, OHCHR and UNDP, 2023), <<u>https://www.undp.org/publications/global-progress</u> <u>-report-sustainable-development-goal-16-indicators-wake-call-action-peace-justice-and-inclusion</u>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Unruh, J., Pritchard, M., Savage, E., Wade, C., Nair, P., Adenwala, A., Lee, L., Malloy, M., Taner, I. and Frilander, M., 'Linkages between large-scale infrastructure development and conflict dynamics in East Africa', Journal of Infrastructure Development, 11/1–2 (2019), pp. 1–13, https://doi.org/10.1177/0974930619872082>
- V-Dem Institute, 'Case for Democracy', March 2023, <https://www.v-dem.net/documents/34/C4DReport _230421.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Vashchenko, Y., 'Access to modern energy services through the prism of children's rights: An overview from the perspectives of the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the policy and law approaches of certain EU member states and Ukraine', *International Comparative Jurisprudence*, 7/1 (2021), pp. 75– 87, https://doi.org/10.13165/j.icj.2021.06.006>
- Vazeer, T., 'SDG 16 as an enabler for the 2030 Agenda', United Nations Development Programme, [n.d.], https://www.idea.int/sites/default/files/news/news-pdfs/Tomoko_Vazzer-PPT-SDG16-enabler-2030 -Agenda.pdf>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Vilhena Vieira, O., 'Inequality and the subversion of the rule of law', International Journal on Human Rights, 6 (2007), https://sur.conectas.org/en/inequality-subversion-rule-law/, accessed 28 June 2024

- Vozza, D. and Coluccello, S., 'Transnational organized crime and UN Sustainable Development Goals', in W. Leal Filho, A. M. Azul, L. Brandli, A. Lange Salvia, P. G. Özuyar and T. Wall (eds), *Encyclopedia of the* UN Sustainable Development Goals, Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions (Springer, 2021), <<u>https://doi</u> .org/10.1007/978-3-319-71066-2_132-1>
- Wagacha, W., 'Access to Information as a Driver towards Closing of the Gender Equality Gap: The Emerging Scene in Kenya', Working Paper, World Library and Information Congress, 2007, ">https://www.academia.edu/46884235/Access_to_information_as_a_driver_towards_closing_of_the_gender _equality_gap_the_emerging_scene_in_Kenya>
- Wallengren, E., Guthold, R., Newby, H., Moller, A.-B., Marsh, A. D., Fagan, L., Azzopardi, P., Guèye M. and Kågesten, A. E., 'Relevance of the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) to adolescent health measurement: A systematic mapping of the SDG framework and global adolescent health indicators', *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 7/6 Supplement (2024), pp. S47–S55, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j</u> .jadohealth.2024.01.004>
- Warner, R. M., 'Implementing the rule of law for nature in the global marine commons: Developing environmental assessment frameworks', in C. Voigt (ed), *Rule of Law for Nature: New Dimensions and Ideas in Environmental Law* (Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2013), https://doi.org/10.1017/CB09781107337961.028>
- Weikmans, R., van Asselt, H. and Timmons Roberts, J., 'Transparency requirements under the Paris Agreement and their (un)likely impact on strengthening the ambition of nationally determined contributions (NDCs)', *Climate Policy*, 20/4 (2020), pp. 511–26, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062</u> .2019.1695571>
- Weitz, N., Carlsen, H., Nilsson, M. and Skånberg, K., 'Towards systemic and contextual priority setting for implementing the 2030 Agenda', *Sustainability Science*, 13 (2018), pp. 531–48, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-017-0470-0
- Weston, M., 'The Benefits of Access to Justice for Economies, Societies, and the Social Contract', Open Government Partnership and Pathfinders for Peaceful, Just and Inclusive Societies, 2022, <https://6c192f99-3663-4169-a572-e50276ce5d6d.usrfiles.com/ugd/6c192f_c240bf284a8b40a19e715c 152af1b4f0.pdf>, accessed 27 June 2024
- White, B. T., Sepe, S. M. and Masconale, S., 'Urban decay, posterity, and the rule of law', *Emory Law Journal*, 64/1 (2014), https://heinonline.org/HOL/LandingPage?handle=hein.journals/emlj64&div=5&id=&page =>, accessed 28 June 2024
- Wigley, S., Dieleman, J. L., Templin, T., Mumford, J. E. and Bollyky, T. J., 'Autocratisation and universal health coverage: Synthetic control study', *BMJ* (2020), <<u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m4040</u>>
- Witbooi, E., Ali, K.-D., Achmad Santosa, M., Hurley, G., Husein, Y., Maharaj, S., Okafor-Yarwood, I., Arroyo Quiroz, I. and Salas, O., 'Organized crime in the fisheries sector threatens a sustainable ocean economy', *Nature*, 588 (2020), pp. 48–56, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2913-5</u>>
- Xavier, R., Komendantova, N., Jarbandhan, V. and Nel, D., 'Participatory governance in the transformation of the South African energy sector: Critical success factors for environmental leadership', *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 154 (2017), pp. 621–32, <<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.146</u>>
- Zaitch, D., Boekhout van Solinge, T. and Müller, G., 'Harms, crimes and natural resource exploitation: A green criminological and human rights perspective on land-use change', in M. Bavinck, L. Pellegrini and E. Mostert (eds), *Conflicts over Natural Resources in the Global South: Conceptual Approaches* (Leiden, Netherlands: CRC Press, 2014)
- Zhou, A. and Li, J., 'Impact of anti-corruption and environmental regulation on the green development of China's manufacturing industry', *Sustainable Production and Consumption*, 27 (2021), pp. 1994–60, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spc.2021.04.031

About the author

Stacey Cram is a non-resident fellow at New York University's Center on International Cooperation and an independent advisor, providing support to non-profits and multilateral organizations dedicated to advancing SDG 16 and people-centred justice. For seven years, she led Namati's global policy portfolios, playing a pivotal role in advocating the inclusion of a justice goal in the 2030 Agenda and the full implementation of SDG 16. She spearheaded the creation of the COVID-19 Grassroots Justice Fund and the Legal Empowerment Fund, and played a key role in establishing global initiatives like the Task Force on Justice and Open Government Partnership Coalition on Justice, contributing to the design of indicators that holistically examine the global justice gap. Stacey holds an MSc in Global Governance and Public Policy from Birkbeck College, University of London, and an MA in International Relations from the University of St Andrews.

About International IDEA

The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance (International IDEA) is an intergovernmental organization with 35 Member States founded in 1995, with a mandate to support sustainable democracy worldwide.

WHAT WE DO

We develop policy-friendly research related to elections, parliaments, constitutions, digitalization, climate change, inclusion and political representation, all under the umbrella of the UN Sustainable Development Goals. We assess the performance of democracies around the world through our unique Global State of Democracy Indices and Democracy Tracker.

We provide capacity development and expert advice to democratic actors including governments, parliaments, election officials and civil society. We develop tools and publish databases, books and primers in several languages on topics ranging from voter turnout to gender quotas.

We bring states and non-state actors together for dialogues and lesson sharing. We stand up and speak out to promote and protect democracy worldwide.

WHERE WE WORK

Our headquarters is in Stockholm, and we have regional and country offices in Africa and West Asia, Asia and the Pacific, Europe, and Latin America and the Caribbean. International IDEA is a Permanent Observer to the United Nations and is accredited to European Union institutions.

OUR PUBLICATIONS AND DATABASES

We have a catalogue with more than 1,000 publications and over 25 databases on our website. Most of our publications can be downloaded free of charge.

<https://www.idea.int>



International IDEA Strömsborg SE-103 34 Stockholm SWEDEN +46 8 698 37 00 info@idea.int www.idea.int

This Policy Paper explores the interlinkages between Sustainable Development Goal (SDG) 16 (Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions) and the 2030 Agenda's other Sustainable Development Goals.

Despite SDG 16's crucial role in promoting democratic principles, human rights and the rule of law, it is often overlooked, and the financing needed to deliver SDG 16 is substantial, requiring sustained investment for long-term development. This paper provides a comprehensive literature review and meta-analysis of 185 articles and highlights how SDG 16 acts as an enabler for other SDGs.

This paper calls for increased cross-sector collaboration and offers recommendations to UN Member States, policymakers working across the 2030 Agenda and other stakeholders working in areas where SDG 16 has high-impact interlinkages to make targeted investments, enhance research and safeguard those working on SDG 16 in order to fully leverage its potential in achieving outcomes on the 2030 Agenda.

ISBN: 978-91-7671-782-0 (PDF)